

pubs.acs.org/CR

Review

Beyond *In Vivo*, Pharmaceutical Molecule Production in Cell-Free Systems and the Use of Noncanonical Amino Acids Therein

Published as part of Chemical Reviews special issue "Noncanonical Amino Acids".

Marco G. Casteleijn,* Ulrike Abendroth, Anne Zemella, Ruben Walter, Rashmi Rashmi, Rainer Haag, and Stefan Kubick*



ABSTRACT: Throughout history, we have looked to nature to discover and copy pharmaceutical solutions to prevent and heal diseases. Due to the advances in metabolic engineering and the production of pharmaceutical proteins in different host cells, we have moved from mimicking nature to the delicate engineering of cells and proteins. We can now produce novel drug molecules, which are fusions of small chemical drugs and proteins. Currently we are at the brink of yet another step to venture beyond nature's border with the use of unnatural amino acids and manufacturing without the use of living cells using cell-free systems. In this review, we summarize the progress and limitations of the last decades in the



development of pharmaceutical protein development, production in cells, and cell-free systems. We also discuss possible future directions of the field.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1303
2. Pharmaceutical Molecules	1304
2.1. In Vivo Pathway Engineered Production of	
Small Molecular Drugs	1304
2.2. Specific Nature of Pharmaceutical Proteins	1305
2.3. Modifications of Pharmaceutical Proteins	1308
3. Protein Synthesis Methodologies	1310
3.1. In Vivo Production of Pharmaceutical Pro-	
teins	1310
3.1.1. Escherichia coli	1310
3.1.2. Yeast	1310
3.1.3. Mammalian Cells, Including CHO	1311
3.1.4. Outlook	1311
3.2. Cell-Free Production of Pharmaceutical	
Proteins	1311
4. Co-translational Incorporation of Noncanonical	
Amino Acids	1315
4.1. The Role of tRNAs and tRNA Modifications in	
CFPS and NCAA Incorporation	1316
4.2. Common Approaches of tRNA Manipulation	
in CFPS	1316
4.2.1. Stop-Codon Suppression	1316
4.2.2. Sense Codon Reassignment	1316
4.2.3. Synthetic tRNAs in PURE	1317
4.3. tRNA Capture Techniques for Depletion	1317
4.4. tRNA Purification Methods	1317
4.4.1. Future Developments	1317

5. Combining CFPS, Nonconical Amino Acid Con-	
jugation, and Cell-Free Metabolic Engineering	1319
6. Discussion and Future Outlook	1320
Author Information	1320
Corresponding Authors	1320
Authors	1320
Author Contributions	1320
Notes	1320
Biographies	1321
Acknowledgments	1321
Abbreviations	1321
References	1322

1. INTRODUCTION

Pharmaceutical molecules, including proteins, are central to the treatment or prevention of diseases in humans, pets, and livestock. There are several important aspects underscoring their importance. In disease treatment, pharmaceutical molecules are designed to interact with specific biological targets in the body to either inhibit or enhance their functions. This can include small-molecule drugs, biologics (including proteins such as antibod-

Received:February 12, 2024Revised:December 26, 2024Accepted:January 6, 2025Published:January 22, 2025





ies), and gene therapies. They are used to treat a wide range of diseases and conditions, from common illnesses like the flu to chronic conditions such as diabetes and autoimmune diseases.

Since the early attempts by Edward Jenner in 1796,¹ vaccines, which often contain proteins or other biological molecules, are essential for preventing infectious diseases. They stimulate the immune system to produce antibodies or other immune responses, providing protection against future infections. In more recent years, precision medicine has been developed due to the advances in molecular biology and genomics.² These personalized medicines are tailored to an individual's genetic makeup, ensuring more effective and safer treatments with fewer side effects. Proteins and nucleic acid-based (DNA and RNA) drugs play critical roles in precision medicine approaches.

Ever since humans settled down and started living with their livestock, infectious diseases rose hand in hand with the growing population.³ As such, veterinary medicine has become important not only from an economic point of view but also from a public health point of view. One current example is bird flu, which negatively impacts the agricultural industry and raises health concerns about cross-contamination to our pets or humans.⁴ Pharmaceuticals are crucial in veterinary medicine for the treatment and prevention of diseases in pets and livestock.

Therefore, having access to essential pharmaceuticals is a critical aspect of global health. Ensuring the availability and affordability of these molecules is a key component of public health efforts worldwide.⁵ As such, advances in biotechnology and chemistry to study disease mechanisms, identify potential drug targets, and develop new therapeutic approaches are crucial to adapt rapidly to new pandemics or address global health threats, such as diabetes, sepsis, cancer, and cardiac diseases, to name a few. Proteins, such as enzymes and antibodies, are essential tools in laboratory experiments and diagnostics. An additional element is the speed and scalability of production for rapidly emerging health threats, especially on a global scale. Currently, access to essential medicines for the world's poor has made little progress, except for a few medicines such as antiretrovirals.⁵

This review is organized into five sections. In section 2, we present the current state of the art regarding pharmaceuticals currently on the market and the nature of pharmaceutical molecules. In section 3, the use of cells and their lysates in cell-free protein synthesis (CFPS) to manufacture pharmaceuticals is reviewed. In section 4, we provide a perspective on noncanonical amino acids, specifically on their role in bioconjugations and cell-free protein synthesis systems. In section 5, we bring together the different methods, to finalize in the last section a general discussion and insights on where the field is going next.

2. PHARMACEUTICAL MOLECULES

Pharmacy, as part of medicine, has its roots in centuries of experimenting with cool water, leaves, dirt, herbs, nuts, plants, or even mud during prehistoric times.⁶ These efforts were subsequently summarized in recent millennia, first in writings in Mesopotamia and Egypt, and later in early attempts at pharmacopeia by Pedanius Dioscorides (in "De materia medica"),⁷ Jiang Shinian a.k.a. Shennong (in "Shennong Bencaojing") and others,⁸ Abu Rayhan Muhammad ibn Ahmad al-Biruni a.k.a. al-Biruni (in "Kitab al-Saydalah"),⁹ and Nicolaus Salernitanus or others (in "Antidotarium Nicolai").¹⁰ However, it was not until scientists started extracting single

molecules from such early pharmaceutical preparations that modern pharmaceutical science emerged.

Morphine, discovered and isolated by Friedrich Sertürner (1783–1855), is commonly accepted as the first medicinal alkaloid isolated from plants.¹¹ Thereafter, many pharmaceutical compounds were isolated in the decades that followed,¹¹ including extracts from animals, such as epinephrine.¹² It was not until around 1831 that the first pharmaceutical compound was chemically produced: chloroform.¹³ Over 90% of the approximately 19,000 prescription drug products approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) on the market¹⁴ are small molecular drugs,¹⁵ even though the current major blockbusters are mainly biopharmaceutical proteins.¹⁶

Pharmaceutical proteins followed a similar path.^{17,18} Active pharmaceutical proteins were discovered either from early potions or subsequently from plants or isolated from animals. The first pharmaceutical proteins were mixtures of polyclonal antibodies, described as serum therapy for the treatment of diphtheria.^{19,20} This was followed by the first administration of a purified protein on January 11, 1922 when insulin, isolated from ox-pancreas extract, was injected into Leonard Thompson, a 14-year-old diabetic.²¹ Insulin was also the first protein sequenced by Frederick Sanger in 1949.²² With the discovery of DNA and the advances made in molecular biology, it was also insulin that made it to the market in the 1980s as the first recombinant pharmaceutical protein produced *in vivo*; in this case in the microbe *Escherichia coli*²¹ (*E. coli*).

The first pharmaceutical proteins on the market that combined the specificity of pharmaceutical proteins with the additional properties of a chemical moiety by linking them together were PEG-adenosine deaminase (for the treatment of acute immunodeficiency syndrome) and PEG- L-asparaginase (for the treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukemia).²³ Poly-(ethylene glycol) (PEG), a polymer, is used in these applications to mask pharmaceutically active proteins from the immune system. Another early example is stryene-*co*-maleic anhydride conjugate of the anticancer protein neocarzinstatin with the purpose of solubilizing the protein in the phase contrast agent Lipiodo.²³

The development of small molecular drugs and proteins thus followed similar paths, from extracting pharmaceutical agents from plants and animals to manufacturing them using synthetic routes. The advantageous properties of small molecules and proteins were then combined to create engineered, highly specific pharmaceuticals.

2.1. *In Vivo* Pathway Engineered Production of Small Molecular Drugs

The focus of this review is on protein-based drugs; however, due to the potential converging nature of the production of small molecule drugs and pharmaceutical proteins by means of biotechnology, conjugation chemistry, and synthetic biology, we will briefly discuss the *in vivo* manufacturing of small molecules through metabolic pathway engineering. Traditionally, small molecule drugs are produced without the use of biotechnology.^{24,25} However, in the mid-1970s biological cells were quickly adapted to produce chemicals, fuels, proteins (including enzymes), and pharmaceuticals due to the work of Cohen and Bailey.^{26,27} Metabolic engineering was then defined in 1991 as "the improvement of cellular activities by manipulation of enzymatic, transport, and regulatory functions of the cell using recombinant DNA technology".²⁷

Metabolic engineering has proven to be successful for the production of small molecule drugs.²⁸ However, when largescale production is targeted, a typical manufacturing process first selects which drug to produce. Then, the most suitable microbial host strain is selected based on its metabolic characteristics and capabilities to produce the drug, the ease of culturing the host strain, and the availability of genetic engineering tools. Ideally, the process is supported by computational simulations and highthroughput omics (protein, DNA, RNA, lipids, carbohydrates, and metabolites) analyses to map metabolic and cellular networks and predict metabolic phenotypes at the levels of transcripts, proteins, metabolites, and flux under various bioprocessing conditions. Metabolic engineering is performed by optimizing existing pathways, establishing new pathways, and, if necessary, adding regulatory circuits. Fermentation and downstream processing (DSP) of the engineered host strain are followed to produce the desired drug of interest. Further optimizations of the host strain follow the Design/Build/Test/ Learn (or DBTL)-cycle (Figure 1) to maximize the output (i.e., product) with minimal input (substrate). This subprocess is



Figure 1. In order to convert a conventional cell into a cell that can be utilized for the production of compounds, including proteins, cells are (re)designed using the Design/Build/Test/Learn (DBTL)-cycle. Cells used for the manufacturing of compounds, including proteins have been referred to as cell factories.²⁹ To produce small molecular drugs, enzymatic pathways are engineered or deleted in the cell, utilizing several rounds of the DBTL-cycle to optimize the production. Single enzymes, or a cascading pathway of enzymes, can be engineered to optimize the use of substrates to maximize the output of product. In the case of protein production, feedstocks containing carbon, nitrogen, and other essential elements needed for cell-growth/viability are considered the substrate which enters the cell, while the product is (secreted) protein.

often needed to increase yield, purity, and stability of the product. The final industrial robust production strains are then scaled up even further for commercial drug production.

Genetic and metabolic engineering achievements for the production of drugs and drug precursors are well summarized in recent reviews.^{30,31} In summary, the field has made significant strides over the last few decades in the production of nonprotein-based pharmaceutical compounds. In the 1980s, metabolic engineering was used to enhance the production of antibiotics in microbial hosts other than fungi. The first pharmaceutical molecule produced at an industrial scale was semisynthetic artemisinin, a potent antimalarial drug.³² Other important examples include the production of paclitaxel (Taxol)³⁰ and artemisinic acid in yeast as a precursor to artemisinin³³ in the 2000s, the production of opioid precursors and morphine in yeast and bacterial strains,^{34,35} and with the rise of personalized medicine,² engineered precision medicine has the potential to be an effective healthcare approach.³⁶

These achievements illustrate the evolving capabilities of metabolic engineering in the production of nonprotein-based pharmaceutical compounds.

2.2. Specific Nature of Pharmaceutical Proteins

Biologics (or biodrugs) are defined by the FDA and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) as "made from a living organism or its products and is used in the prevention, diagnosis, or treatment of cancer and other diseases. Biological drugs include antibodies, interleukins, and vaccines. Biologics can also be referred to as biologic agents or biological agents". Vaccines, blood-products, DNA or RNA base therapeutics (e.g., siRNA, aptamers, mRNA), pharmaceutical proteins, gene therapy, stem cell therapy and tissue engineering, and extracellular vesicles all classify as biologics.

The estimated total sales volume of the pharmaceutical industry in 2021 was 1.42 trillion USD,³⁷ of which 336.5 billion USD was attributed to pharmaceutical proteins.¹⁶ Due to the COVID pandemic, among the 15 major blockbusters in 2021, there were two mRNA vaccines (Pfizer's Comirnaty and Moderna's Spikevax COVID-19 vaccines) on places 1 and 3, with two small molecules on places 5 and 10 (Bristol Myers Squibb and Pfizer's Eliquis (apixaban) and Gilead Sciences' Biktarvy (bictegravir, emtricitabine, and tenofovir alafenamide), respectively.³⁸ The remainder being pharmaceutical proteins underscores the importance of this class of therapeutics. Small molecule drugs have several disadvantages compared to those of pharmaceutical proteins. Pharmaceutical proteins can perform complex functions and are highly specific, which is not possible for small molecule drugs. Due to the higher specificity, pharmaceutical proteins are less likely to exhibit drug toxicity. In addition, they are less likely to elicit an immune response since they are either recombinant versions of proteins naturally produced by the human body or engineered to be human-like (humanized proteins; Table 1). Pharmaceutical proteins are also suitable alternatives to gene therapy when such options are not (yet) available. The other side of the coin is that pharmaceutical proteins are rarely available as oral drugs, the production costs are higher than small molecule drugs, and inefficient penetration into tissues to reach the target site can be challenging if the pharmaceutical protein is too large.39

When considering pharmaceutical proteins, we must understand the complex nature of their structure, their production within cells, and their proper folding into biologically active molecules.⁴⁰ Another challenging aspect of recombinant protein

Table 1. E	^E xamples of the Pharmaceutical Proteins			
Generation	Brand name (Generic name)	Modifications	Therapeutic category (Indication)	Manufacturer
first	Humulin (Insulin)		Diabetes (Diabetes)	Elli Lilly
	Hepatrope (Somatropin ^{<i>a</i>})		Hormones (Growth failure)	Elli Lilly
	Intron A (Interferon α -2b)		Anti Infective (Viral Infections)	Schering-Plough
	Procrit/Eprex (Epoetin α^b)		Blood modifier (Anemia)	Johnson and Johnson
	Kogenat (Factor VIII)		Blood modifier (Hemophilia)	Bayer
second	Humalog/Liprolog (Insulin Lispro)	Protein engineered (K/P swap in B chain of the insulin molecule)	Diabetes (Diabetes)	Elli Lilly
	Pegasys (Interferon α -2b)	PEGylated	Interferon (Hepatitis C)	Roche
	Refacto (Factor VIII)	B-domain-deleted rh factor VIII	Blood modifier (Hemophilia)	Wyeth
	Amevive (Alefacept)	Dimeric fusion protein (extracellular CD2-binding portion of human LFA-3 linked to the Fc region of human IgG1)	Inflammation/Bone (Plaque psoriasis)	Biogen Idec ^c
	Ontak (denileukin diftitox)	Recombinant r IL-2–diphtheria toxin fusion protein	Cancer (Cancer)	Ligand Pharmaceuticals ^c
third	Gazyva (US) Gazyvaro (EU) (Obinutuzumab)	Humanized, glycoengineered mAb specific for B cell antigen CD20	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (Cancer)	Roche/Genentech
	Synagic (Palivizumab)	humanized mAb	Prophylaxis of lower respiratory tract disease (Viral infection)	AstraZeneca
	Emicizumab (EU), Emicizumab-kxwh (US) (Hemlibra)	Humanized, bispecific IgG4 capable of binding factors IXa and X	Blood modifier (Hemophilia)	Roche Registration (UK) Roche/Genentech (USA)
	Belantamab mafodotin (EU), Belantamab mafodotin-blmf (US) Blenrep	ADC comprising monomethyl auristatin F conjugated to an afucosylated humanized IgG1k targeting B cell maturation antigen	Multiple melanoma (Cancer)	GlaxoSmithKline
	Zynlonta (loncastuximab tesirine-lpyl) CD19-directed humanized IgG1k produced in a CHO cell line, conjugated to SG3199 (alkylating agent).	CD 19-directed humanized IgG1ĸ conjugated to SG3199 (alkylating agent)	Lymphoma (Cancer)	ADC Therapeutics
^a Somatropi = monoclor	in was also produced by Pfizer as Genatropin and by Serono as Saizen. nal antibody.	$^b\mathrm{E}$ poetic $lpha$ was also produced by Amgen as Epogen and by Ro	oche as NeoRecormon. ^c Withdr	awn or discontinued. mAB

Table 2. Bioconjugated Pharmaceutical Proteins Previously Approve	ed by the FDA/EMA ^a		
Brand name ¹⁶ (Generic name)	Conjugating method	Indication ¹⁶	Manufacturer ¹⁶
Mylotarg (gemtuzumab ozogamicin), ADC targeting the CD33 surface antigen, consisting of a humanized IgG4 chemically conjugated to N-acetyl- <i>y</i> -calicheamicin.	Anti-CD33 antibody carbohydrate is conjugated with NAc-gamma calicheamicin DMH made by oxidizing the naturally occurring carbohydrate residues and reacting the resultant aldehydes with the calicheamicin hydrazide derivative ⁷⁰	Acute myeloid leukemia	Pfizer (Belgium) Pfizer/ Wyeth (USA)
Adcetris (brentuximab vedotin), chimeric mAb conjugate specific for human CD30 (expressed on the surface of lymphoma cells).	Monoclonal antibody linked with maleimide attachment groups, cathepsin-cleavable linkers (valine-citrulline), and para-aminobenzylcarbamate spacers to three to five units of the antimitotic agent monomethyl auristatin E (MMAE) ⁷¹	Lymphoma	Takeda Pharma (Den- mark) Seattle Genetics (USA)
Kadcyla (trastuzumab emtansine), humanized mAb specific for HER2 antigen conjugated to the small-molecule cytotoxin DM1.	Thiol-containing may tansinoids, which have methyl groups adjacent to their sulf hydryl group, were linked to the antibody trastuzumab with the SSNPP linker 72	Breast cancer	Roche (Switzerland)
Ristempa (pegfilgrastim), covalent conjugate of rh G-CSF conjugated to 20-kDa PEG.	N-terminus methionine of filgrastim ⁷³	Neutropenia	Amgen (Netherlands)
Oncaspar (pegaspargase), r asparaginase and conjugated to monomethoxypropylene glycol.	PEGylation with a succinimidyl carbonate linker reacting with a mine group of lysines and N-terminal a mine 74	Lymphoblastic leukemia, lymphoma	Les Laboratoires Servier (France)
Revcovi (elapegademase-lvlr), PEG-conjugated r bovine adenosin e 75 deaminase.	PEGylation with a succinimidyl carbonate linker reacting with a mine group of lysines and N-terminal a mine 76	Adenosine deaminase se- vere combined immune deficiency (ADA-SCID)	Leadiant Biosciences (USA)
Polivy (polatuzumab vedotin), ADC comprising a humanized IgG1 targeting a component of the B cell receptor (CD79b) conjugated to monomethyl auristatin E (MMAE).	Maleimide addition to free (engineered) thiol groups (under reduced conditions) with a maleimidoca proylvaline-citrulline-p-aminobenzoyloxycarbonyl linker bound to monomethyl auristatin \mathbb{E}^7	Diffuse large B cell lym- phoma	Roche Germany) Gen- entech (USA)
Givlaari (givosiran), chemically synthesized, chemically modified ds siRNA conjugated to a triantennary GalNAc ligand to facilitate hepatic delivery. Silences aminolevulinate hepatic synthase 1 (ALAS1) mRNA.	trans-4-hydroxy prolinol (fHP) moiety enabled site-specific conjugation at any position of an ON during solid-phase synthesis of siRNA 78	Acute hepatic porphyria	Alnylam Netherlands (Netherlands) Alnylam (USA)
Besremi (ropeginterferon alfa-2b (EU), ropeginterferon alfa-2b-njft (US); rh-interferon alfa- 2b with an additional N-terminal proline conjugated to a 40-kDa two-arm PEG moiety.	PEG aldehyde forms a tertiary amine linkage between PEG and pro-IFN alfa-2b with N-terminal proline 79	Polycythemia vera	AOP Orphan Pharma- ceuticals, (Austria) PharmaEssentia (USA)
Padcev (enfortumab vedotin (EU), enfortumab vedotin-ejfv (US)), antibody-drug conjugate (ADC) targeting nectin-4 (an adhesion protein highly expressed in urothelial cancer). Fully human IG1k conjugated to monomethyl auristatin E (MMAE).	Maleimide addition to eight free thiol groups (under reduced conditions) with a peptide linker ⁸⁰	Urothelial cancer	Astellas Pharma Europe (Netherlands) Astellas Pharma US (USA)
Enhertu (trastuzumab deruxtecan), ADC comprising humanized anti-HER2 IgG1 <i>k</i> (trastuzumab sequence), conjugated to a topoisomerase I inhibitor derivative of exatecan.	MTG ase mediated linker conjugation with dual click-chemistry drug conjugation (azide and me-tetrazine) $^{\rm 81}$	Metastatic breast cancer	Daiichi Sankyo Europe (Germany) Daiichi Sankyo (USA)
Trodelvy (sacituzumab govitecan (EU), sacituzumab govitecan-lziy (US)), ADC comprising an anti-Trop-2 humanized IgG1k conjugated to camptothecin-derived topoisomerase I inhibitor SN-38.	Maleimide addition to free thiol groups (under reduced conditions) with a short polyethylene glycol spacer containing an acetylene-azide facilitating click cycloaddition of SN38. ⁸²	Breast cancer (triple-nega- tive)	Gilead Sciences (Ireland) Immunomedics (USA)
Blenrep (belantamab mafodotin (EU), belantamab mafodotin-blmf (US)), ADC comprising monomethyl auristatin F conjugated to an afticosylated humanized IgG1k targeting B cell maturation antigen (BCMA).	Maleimide addition to the antibody of a protease resistant maleimido caproyl linker to a microtubule disrupting agent, mono methyl auristatin F (MMAF) 83	Multiple myeloma	GlaxoSmithKline (Dub- lin) GlaxoSmithKline (USA)
Tivdak (tisotumab vedotin-tftv), tissue factor (TF)-directed ADC comprising a human anti- TF IgG1 <i>k</i> antibody conjugated to monomethyl auristatin E (MMAE), produced in a CHO cell line.	Maleimide addition to free thiol groups (under reduced conditions) with a peptide linker ⁸⁴	Cervical cancer	Seagen (USA)
Zynlonta (loncastuximab tesirine-lpyl), CD19-directed humanized lgG1 κ conjugated to SG3199, an alkylating agent.	Maleimide addition to free thiol groups (under reduced conditions) with a dPEG8/ Val-Ala peptide/PABA-linker ⁸⁵ conjugated to SG3199.	Lymphoma	ADC Therapeutics (USA)
Nexviazyme (avalglucosidase alfa-ngpt), r h α glucosidase conjugated with multiple synthetic bis-mannose-6-phosphate (bis-M6P)-tetra-mannose glycans.	Recombinant hGAA was oxidized with sodium metaperiodate and to the hydrazine- derivatized M6P-containing oligosaccharides and phosphopentamannose	Late-onset Pompe disease	Genzyme (USA)
$^a\mathrm{Medicine}$ are in descending order of approval either by the FDA or EMA, b	ased on Walsh, 2022. ¹⁶		

Chemical Reviews

Review

production is that production hosts are often not of the same genetic origin as the target protein, e.g., the production of human insulin in yeast cells. This requires extensive host engineering and optimization of the production process parameters. Some proteins are additionally modified, e.g., glycosylation, often through expression hosts engineered to mimic human posttranslation modification (PTMs). Such PTMs may affect protein stability, solubility, or efficacy during manufacturing, storage, and during or after administration.

Protein-based drugs can be classified in different generations of biotechnology drugs: natural biopharmaceuticals, e.g., proteins obtained by extractive processes and natural proteins obtained by recombinant DNA technology (1st generation; recombinant proteins), modified recombinant natural proteins e.g., point mutation(s), hyperglycosylation, PEGylation (2nd generation; displaying the same biological activity, similar or enhanced clinical efficacy, efficacy/safety ratio and PK/PD profile), and highly modified recombinant proteins, e.g., multiple mutations, chimers, fusion proteins (3rd generation; new molecules with different activity and clinical application than the deriving natural proteins). In Table 1, some examples of pharmaceutical proteins are listed. Additional examples can be found in a recent book chapter⁴¹ and the full list of biological therapeutics with market approval is well summarized by Walsh $(2022).^{16}$

Another important parameter to consider is the metabolic clearance of pharmaceutical proteins. Unlike small molecules, which are broadly metabolized by cytochrome P450 enzymes, mainly in the liver, proteins are digested by proteases that are found throughout the body, in blood, various organs, tissue, lymphatic fluid, interstitial fluid, and intracellularly. Typically, smaller proteins or digested subunits (< \sim 50 kDa) are eliminated primarily via the kidneys, with high levels of renal filtration and (additional) degradation after proximal tubule reabsorption. For larger proteins, such as antibodies, both receptor-mediated (or active) and fluid-phase endocytosis (or passive) mechanisms are the main elimination mechanisms, transporting them from the vascular endothelium to the underlying tissue and intracellular degradation.⁴²

Pharmacogenetics can play an important role in identifying responders and nonresponders to medications, avoiding adverse events, and optimizing drug doses. Pharmacogenetic information and changes in drug labeling are expected to accelerate protein engineering for pharmaceutical proteins targeting different populations, personalized dosing regimens, and companion diagnostics.⁴³

When considering the progression and constant improvement of protein engineering tools, it is reasonable to expect more complex pharmaceutical proteins in the future. This would also include proteins with sequences not found in nature.⁴³ Protein engineering of pharmaceutical proteins has focused on improving the stability and half-life of therapeutics after administration to the patient. In addition, masking pharmaceutical proteins from the native immune system to improve their half-life and avoid adverse effects is another important area. As such, careful design is warranted for immunogenicity risk assessment and mitigation, especially with the advancements in computational tools and off-the-shelf platform technologies combined with novel protein structures including conjugated molecules. Another critical note regarding the expansion of the design space and increasing high-throughput methods, is the challenge of detecting anomalies in data sets and the growing number of internal parameters due to an increase in AI models.⁴

As such, a tighter collaboration is needed between computational scientists and protein drug developers. In addition, with the expansion of novel drugs a re-examination of risk mitigation strategies for biologic treatments, especially via postmarket surveillance is necessary.⁴⁵

2.3. Modifications of Pharmaceutical Proteins

Classical protein engineering comprises making changes to the DNA sequence to change the protein structure to alter the stability and binding properties, or, in the case of enzymes, catalytic properties. Structural predictions have been used to guide rational design, while randomized methods followed by screening have proven to be very powerful in the past.^{46,47} However, nowadays protein engineering can span a wide range of modifications, such as conjugations (PEG, POX, PASylation, fatty acids, gene manipulations, (pre- or post-translational 48-50) protein fusions (e.g., Fc-fusion), amidation, or disulfide bond shuffling. As such, molecular modeling^{51,52} in combination with the state-of-the-art protein folding predictions, e.g., Alphafold^{53,54} and RoseTTAFold,⁵⁵ could be a powerful new avenue to be used in grafting approaches. Three grafting routes are utilized to prepare biomolecule-polymer conjugates in a controlled manner: grafting-to in which a polymer is first synthesized, purified, and then attached, grafting-from where a small, reactive molecule is the initiation site to grow the polymer from the surface of the protein, and grafting-through where monomers tailored with a precise payload are polymerized.⁵⁶ For pre-expression protein engineering, we refer to other excellent reviews in the field.⁵⁷⁻

Macromolecular drugs synthesized by attaching a therapeutic molecule to either a lipid or a polymeric carrier molecule using covalent chemical linkers are called bioconjugated therapeutics and can be seen as post-translational protein engineering. Such macromolecules are composed of three basic building blocks: a carrier molecule (polymer, lipid, peptide, mRNA, or protein), a therapeutic agent (small molecule chemicals or macromolecular drugs), and chemical linkers. Bioconjugate therapeutics are considered macromolecular prodrugs (a compound with little or no pharmacological activity that converts into a pharmacologically active drug compound in the body) since the therapeutic agents are covalently conjugated to carrier molecules. Table 2 lists all pharmaceutical proteins with bioconjugated moieties approved by the FDA and/or EMA up to 2022.

The set of chemical and enzymatic techniques utilized to attach moieties to proteins is extensive,⁶⁰ therefore, selecting a correct strategy is very important.^{61,62} Bioconjugated pharmaceutical proteins are utilized to stabilize labile drugs from chemical degradation, to protect proteins from proteolytic degradation, to reduce immunogenicity, to decrease antibody recognition, to increase body residence time (i.e., increase half-life, for example in blood), to modify organ disposition, to facilitate drug penetration by endocytosis, to create new possibilities of drug targeting, and to deliver a drug (including the codelivery of a drug and mRNA).⁶³

In cases where the protein cannot or does not have to be engineered to facilitate bioconjugation, the most straightforward and easy to perform techniques target natural amino acids.⁶⁴ The most common targets are lysine, cysteine, and tyrosine. However, other natural amino acids have been reported.⁶⁵ Side chains, and even terminal amine, provide accessible and reactive nucleophiles; therefore, these chemical groups are mostly used for nonspecific covalent bioconjugation strategies. However, the



Figure 2. Distribution of expression systems used for the production of 497 market approved pharmaceutical proteins up to 2022. The amount per period is pre-2001, 106 proteins; 2001–2006, 44 proteins; 2006–2010, 54 proteins; 2011–2015, 64 proteins, 2016–2020, 161 proteins, and 2021–2022, 50 proteins. For the classification, the first approval date is taken (USA or EU), new approvals which were a combination of already approved were not included, gene therapy and nucleic acid biopharmaceuticals (other than mRNA vaccine using cell or cell-free systems for production) and engineered cell-based products were not included. *) Including *Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Komagataella pastoris* (*P. pastoris*), *Hansenula polymorpha;* **) including baby hamster kidney cells (BKH), murine cells, Sp2/0 cells, *V. cholera*, hybridoma cells, cell-free systems for mRNA vaccines, however the percentage represents mainly mammalian cells. Other abbreviations: Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells (CHO), *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), and transgenic animals include chickens (product in the eggs), rabbits (product in milk), and goats (product in milk). Data was collected from several articles, ^{16,95–99} the Federal Drug Administration (FDA), and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) public databases. The figure is an update from Casteleijn and Richardson (2014).¹⁰⁰

selection of natural amino acids is limited and selectivity and precision can be bottlenecks.

Lysine and amine strategies are popular since lysines are present in most proteins. Its primary amine is highly nucleophilic and very reactive toward electrophilic reagents, requiring activation. Several reagents are available, e.g., Nhydroxysuccinimides esters (NHS), sulfonyl chlorides, iso-(thio)cynates, squaric acids, and vinyl sulfones. Of these, NHS esters used to form stable peptide bonds are the most common, also due to the commercial availability of these reagents.⁶⁵ However, nonselectivity and pH dependency are drawbacks of this common method. Other reagents and their advantages and disadvantages are discussed in detail.^{64,65}

Cysteine/thiol strategies have gained more traction in recent years, especially for functionalizing antibodies. Below a pH of 9.0 the cysteine's thiol group is a stronger nucleophile compared to the primary amine of lysine.⁶⁵ Overall, cysteine is less abundant than lysine, which can enhance the bioconjugation specificity but limit the payload. Cysteine can form disulfide bonds easily or can be alkylated with use of electrophiles, e.g., α -halocarbonyls and Michael acceptors, for example maleimides of vinyl sulfones. Here, the most popular reaction used for pharmaceutical proteins is the use of maleimides to form stoichiometric bioconjugates. A drawback is the need to use reducing agents prior to the conjugation reaction, which may affect the stability of the target protein.

Tyrosine possesses a phenolic hydroxyl group that can be targeted via a three component Mannich reaction with aldehyde and aniline reagents, diazonium salts for diazo arylation, or metal ion-catalyzed alkylation methods, such as palladium or nickel.⁶⁵ The drawback in targeting tyrosine is that within the protein, they are often far less accessible than lysine or cysteine.

In addition, the bioconjugation of the carboxylic side chains of glutamic and aspartic acids is fairly common, since the carboxyl moieties are often present on the protein surface. These side chains can be activated with e.g., N,N-dicyclohexyl carbodiimine or 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide (EDC) and reacted with amines to form a peptide bond. Other rare examples, such as histidine, methionine, and tryptophan have been reported.⁶⁵

The development of antibody-drug conjugates (ADCs) has progressed with great strides over the past two decades. To date 15 ADCs have been approved by the FDA, the EMA, and other international governmental agencies.⁶⁶ Additionally, hundreds of ADCs are being evaluated in preclinical and clinical phases.

ADCs also underwent several iterations, similar to other protein drugs. The first-generation ADCs had several disadvantages. Side effects were caused by immunogenicity of the mousederived and chimeric antibody itself, unstable linkers resulting in uncontrolled release of payloads, statistically coupled payloads resulting in different drug-antibody ratios (DAR) and low target specificity. For the second generation of ADCs, humanized mAbs were introduced to reduce the immunological response, and noncleavable, stable linkers were implemented to increase the stability of the protein-drug conjugates in blood. Moreover, more potent cytotoxic payloads were developed. Nevertheless, the heterogeneous DAR, off-target toxicity, and rapid clearance of the ADC were not resolved. With the third generation of ADCs, most of the disadvantages have been addressed. By use of fully human mAbs, immunogenicity is avoided. Furthermore, linker stability, payload toxicity, and conjugation strategies were improved. In particular, the shift from statistical to site-specific conjugation resulted in a more homogeneous DAR.

Nowadays, a variety of different technologies exist to produce antibodies with defined conjugation sites, such as cysteines,⁶⁷ sugar modifications,⁶⁸ and enzyme-based conjugation, such as transglutaminase for the introduction of small tags.⁶⁹

3. PROTEIN SYNTHESIS METHODOLOGIES

The use of molecular biology techniques, and their constant advances during the last 60 years, have made recombinant protein expression the mainstream methodology for pharmaceutical protein production.^{87–89} The major reasons for the use of recombinant technologies to produce proteins are low availability of the native protein by means of extraction from natural sources, reproducibility of protein manufacturing in relation to its quality, immune responses to animal proteins after administration to patients,⁹⁰ and infections of livestock used for the production of vaccines, and subsequent economic loss.⁹¹

Proteins can be produced in a variety of host organisms other than their own, such as bacteria, yeasts, molds, insects, protozoa, mammals, plants, and transgenic plants and animals. The gene of interest is inserted into the host organism, either as a plasmid (bacterial or yeast systems) or via genomic integration.⁹² A great deal of effort to enhance integration efficiencies and optimizing alternative integration mechanisms in recent years has diversified the selection of the production host.⁹² This is important, since choosing the correct expression system is mostly protein-dependent, and factors such as protein quality, functionality, production speed, and yield (titers) are the relevant parameters.^{88,90,93} Alternatively, protein production pathways can be isolated from cells and utilized in cell-free protein synthesis methods, sometimes referred to as 'In vitro Transcription and translation (IVTT)'. In addition, chemical synthesis can produce proteins, however due to limitations in the size of the protein that can be produced and the costs of large-scale manufacturing, this technique has yet to be implemented for the production of pharmaceutical proteins.⁹⁴

3.1. In Vivo Production of Pharmaceutical Proteins

There is a clear trend in the past two decades in the choice of expression system toward mammalian host systems, and especially Chinese Hamster Ovary cells (CHO), over yeasts and bacteria to produce pharmaceutical proteins (Figure 2). The slight increase in *E. coli* products is partially due to the uptick of biosimilars' market approvals, a growth market for biological drugs.¹⁶ In the beginning of the century, 20 pharmaceutical proteins were produced by transgenic technology for clinical trials.⁹⁵ The high developmental costs for transgenic protein production at an industrial scale clearly hinder the advancement of this method,^{95,96} also seen by the approval of only four pharmaceutical proteins using this production method, outlined in Figure 2. Another problem for transgenic production arises during the development phase of the final product. The turnover from gene to production strain is much slower using animal hosts than when cells or cell-free systems. Here, mammalian systems are again slower than bacterial systems, while cell-free systems have the fastest turnover rate.

3.1.1. *Escherichia coli.* The dominating organism of choice for recombinant protein production since the 1980s has been *E. coli.* Regarding pharmaceutical protein *E. coli* production, still accounts for 25% of marketed pharmaceutical proteins (Figure 2.), as such, it still is an important industrial host for many processes.¹⁰¹ The long history is also reflected in the understanding of *E. coli* genetics and the progress made in strain engineering for the production of proteins, plasmids and other molecules.^{87,90,102–105} Recent advances in glycosylation of heterologous proteins, the addition of disulfide bonds in both periplasmic and cytoplasmic space, and the expression of complex proteins highlight the importance of this production host for the production of pharmaceutical proteins.¹⁰⁶

As such, E. coli is an excellent choice for the initial effort to produce a recombinant protein.¹⁰⁷ A starting guide has been developed in the form of a consensus protocol for when little is known about whether the target protein can be recombinantly expressed in soluble and active form (i.e., expressibility).¹⁰⁸ Another advantage is the culture conditions, which at large scale can be significant, since E. coli can be cultivated on relatively cheaply defined media (e.g., glucose, ammonia phosphate and some minerals) and strategies for low-cost production have been developed.^{108,109} On the other hand, due to its evident drawbacks, mammalian expression systems have advanced faster for the production of pharmaceutical proteins. These drawbacks include lack of suitable secretion systems and limited post translational modifications (PTMs; e.g., glycosylation is not trivial in bacterial systems). Moreover, E. coli produces pyrogenic endotoxins, although various methods can be employed for their removal,¹¹⁰ adding additional costs to the DSP.

3.1.2. Yeast. Despite recent efforts to produce pharmaceutical proteins in Kluyveromyces lactis and Yarrowia lipolytica,¹¹¹ only three other yeasts, Hansenula polymorpha, Saccharomyces cerevisiae, and Komagataella pastori, are currently utilized for the production of marketed pharmaceutical proteins (Figure 2). The major advantages for the use of these single-celled eukaryotic fungal organisms are stable production strains, durability, the possibility of high-density growth, high yield and productivity, rapid growth in chemically defined media, suitability for isotopically labeled protein production, their ability to glycosylate, the ability to assist protein folding, product processing that is similar to mammalian cell production, and the capability to handle multiple disulfide bonds formation in the target protein.^{90,112} Pharmaceutical proteins that cannot be produced in E. coli due to folding issues or proteins that require certain forms of glycosylation are often produced in yeast or mammalian cells.

S. cerevisiae has no pathogenic properties, and as such, it is classified as GRAS (generally regarded as safe). In general, *S. cerevisiae* is a good alternative to *E. coli*, also due to a comparatively well-characterized genome and well-established molecular biology tools. On the other hand, complex glycosylation patterns of the host organism are often undesirable for mammalian proteins due to O-linked oligosaccharides contain only mannose, whereas higher eukaryotic proteins have sialylated O-linked chains. Additionally, N-linked glycans are typically overglycosylated with high mannose type structures, which can lead to immunological responses and rapid clearance rates.^{90,113}

The methylotrophic yeast *K. pastoris*, better known under its former name *Pichia pastoris*, is a versatile host for the expression of heterologous proteins for industrial purposes.^{114,115} One main reason for its use is the ease of applying well-established molecular biology tools developed for *S. cerevisiae*. As a host strain, it performs PTMs such as proteolytic processing, glycosylation, and disulfide bond formation quite well, with the additional benefit of glycoengineering.¹¹⁶ The expression system is available as a commercial kit; however, this may also be a hindrance for industrial uptake on large scales. High cell density cultivations in a bioreactor similar to *S. cerevisiae* and *E. coli* coupled with tightly regulated promoter systems, such as the AOX1¹¹⁷ and the SES system,¹¹⁸ has delivered protein titers at high level (intracellular or extracellular),^{119,120} however, as a host organism it also has its limitation when scaled up for

industrial purposes.¹²¹ Low yields in particular cases can be attributed to poor transcription/translation.

Glycosylation is more restricted in *K. pastoris* than in *S. cerevisiae.*¹²² N-linked high-mannose oligosaccharides usually contain up to 20 residues. Similar to *S. cerevisiae*, glycoengineering has taken great strides in making humanized pharmaceutical proteins with regard to their glycan structures. Both human-like hybrid and complex N-glycans have been produced in *K. pastoris.*^{123–125}

An in-depth review of H. polymorpha by Gotthard et al. highlighted its strengths for pharmaceutical protein production.¹²⁶ A recent update of the field, focusing mainly on genetic aspects and fermentation protocols, concluded that H. polymorpha is still a promising host for the establishment of various bioprocesses.¹²⁷ Similar to K. pastoris, proteins can be secreted into production media to simplify downstream processing. For secreted proteins, titers up to 13.5 g/L have been obtained (phytase).¹²⁶ For pharmaceutical applications, the VP6 protein of rotavirus at 3.3 g/L and human serum albumin at 5.8 g/L are recent examples.¹²⁷ The only marketed pharmaceutical protein produced by this host is recombinant HBsAg produced by Sanofi Pasteur, France.^{16,128} In H. polymorpha, N-linked oligosaccharides with high-mannose glycan chains are shorter than in S. cerevisiae. Typical oligosaccharide species are Man₈₋₁₂ GlcNAc2-structures without terminal α -1,3-linked mannose residues. Therefore, the outer chain processing in the N-linked glycosylation pathway in H. polymorpha is similar to that in K. pastoris, with the lack of any terminal α -1,3-linked mannose residues and the addition of shorter mannose structures.

3.1.3. Mammalian Cells, Including CHO. Up to 2023, over 60% of all pharmaceutical proteins are produced in mammalian cells (Figure 2), with the majority being CHO host cells strains.¹⁶ This reflects the well-known strengths of these production platforms, such as producing complex PTM and the ability to produce antibodies at titers of 3–8 g/L at production scale.¹⁶ The yields have been increased due to developments in bioprocess engineering, media optimization, and strain engineering since the 1980s.¹²⁹ Despite the fact that adherent cell cultures can and are used in industrial production, the most abundant processes are developed for suspended cell cultures (e.g., CHO cell- and BKH cell-cultures), such as extended batch cultures and perfusion processes in clinical phase III-trials or during production phase.

For the manufacturing of pharmaceutical proteins that require complex PTMs, such as humanized glycosylation patterns, mammalian cell lines are the only viable option at relevant industrial scales, as the majority of therapeutic glycoproteins are produced in mammalian cells.¹³⁰ However, the drawbacks to mammalian expression include the number of glycoforms that are expressed and the differences in protein glycosylation between different mammalian cell lines.¹³¹ Glycoproteins expressed in some production cell lines contain terminal Nglycolylneuraminic acid rather than human N-acetylneuraminic acid. This may affect immunogenicity, as antibodies against these nonhuman sialic acids moieties have been observed.¹³⁰ Expression in some cell lines, such as human fibrosarcoma cell line HT-1080, can result in glycan chains with no terminal Nglycolylneuraminic acid moieties,¹³² however such alternative methods are not always possible.

Murine cell lines (e.g., NS0 and Sp2/0) produce glycan structures similar to those of humans, however they also produce immunogenic epitopes (e.g., $Gal_{\alpha(1-3)}Gal$). In addition, murine

cell lines exhibit a high content of NeuGc sialic acid, which is why they are less commonly used for biotherapeutic production.¹³³ One way to circumvent glycan structure problems, as well as other issues with PTMs such as disulfide bond formation, is to engineer cell lines to express proteins with the correct modifications.¹³⁴ Due to their nonimmunogenic and near human-like glycosylation, CHO cells have become dominant in biotherapeutic production.^{133,135} Donini et al. provide a short but comprehensive overview of the advances in the field regarding pathway engineering and protein backbone engineering toward controlled and homogeneous glycosylation and novel glycan functionalities.¹³³

3.1.4. Outlook. Stably transfected CHO clones are the main expression systems for the development of recombinant pharmaceutical proteins. Transient gene expression, as a maturing technology,¹³⁶ has due to its major recent advances,¹³⁷ found approval for industrial pharmaceutical protein production (e.g., Luxturna (Spark Therapeutics; USA) and Zolgensma (Novartis Europharm; Ireland/Novartis Gene Therapies; (USA).¹³⁸

Modern synthetic biology and post-transcriptional control (e.g., via CRISPR technologies or RNA aptamer–intramer fusions) will shed light on new expression strains: (i) as part of autologous cell therapies, gene circuits encode computational operations that can be programmed by intracellular signals to execute specific tasks, (ii) cell implants consisting of engineered allogeneic or xenogeneic mammalian cells could be plugged into the metabolism of patients to sense and respond to specific biomarkers.¹³⁹ New advances in systems biology, machine learning, AI, and bioprocess optimization will accelerate the field.¹⁴⁰

Alternative host systems for the production of pharmaceutical proteins are under investigation, for example the trypanosomatid protozoa *Leishmania tarentolae* (a nonpathogenic parasite) due to its complex PTMs and easier cultivation requirements than mammalian cells.^{141–143} In addition, the first clinical trials with a pharmaceutical protein, the C1-SARS-CoV-2 RBD vaccine, produced in the filamentous fungi *Thermothelomyces heterothallica*, have been concluded, proving the safety of alternative organisms.¹⁴⁴ The main advances of this fungal host are high yields, advanced molecular biology tools available, and low cultivation costs compared to mammalian cells. In recent years, a CFPS system based on tobacco cells has emerged as a noteworthy development.^{145,146}

3.2. Cell-Free Production of Pharmaceutical Proteins

The diversity of different cell species as production hosts for protein production can also be seen in the use of cell lysates derived from cells and subsequently applied in CFPS.

The foundation of CFPS was established in the 1960s by Matthaei and Nirenberg.¹⁴⁷ The focus at that time was on studying the protein translation process in *E. coli*. Building on this research, various eukaryotic cell-free systems were developed, in addition to the previously mentioned prokaryotic system. These include protozoan, fungal (*S. cerevisiae, Komagataella phaffii (Pichia pastoris)*), plant (wheat germ, tobacco BY-2), insect (*Spodoptera frugiperda* 21), and mammalian (rabbit reticulocytes, CHO, K562, HEK293, HeLa) based cell-free systems.¹⁴⁸ Despite their different origins, each system is based on translationally active cell lysates, which contain the complete translation machinery, thus enabling protein synthesis. For the production of cell lysates, selected cell lines are fermented and lysed at a defined cell density. While the

pubs.acs.org/CR



Figure 3. Schematic of cell-free protein synthesis. The key component of a CFPS reaction is usually a cell lysate containing the cellular translation machinery. Substrates for translation and other related processes like amino acids and NTPs are supplemented as well as a system for energy regeneration. RNA- (in uncoupled reactions) or DNA- (in coupled reactions) templates encoding the protein of interest are then added to induce protein synthesis. DNA templates can be added either as plasmids or as linear constructs. Due to the open nature of the cell-free reaction, reaction conditions such as pH and salt concentrations can be manipulated easily. Additionally other components such as tRNA/aaRS pairs for noncanonical amino acids (NCAA) incorporation, additional enzymes, chemicals for bioconjugation, and other cofactors can be added before or during the synthesis.

nucleus, cellular debris, and endogenous mRNA (mRNA) are removed, essential components for protein synthesis such as ribosomes, aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases, translation factors, and chaperones are retained.¹⁴⁹ The resulting cell extract is then supplemented with energy in the form of ATP and GTP, an energy regeneration system, and amino acids. The addition of the nucleic acid template can be in the form of circular or linear DNA ("coupled") or as pretranscribed mRNA (linked or uncoupled).¹⁵⁰ In the linked mode, translation is separated from transcription by a gel filtration step, which allows the setting of optimal parameters such as temperature, buffer conditions, and salt concentration (Figure 3).¹⁵¹ Typical protein yields of common CFPS systems are listed in Table 3.

Similar to heterologous protein expression, E. coli continues to be the predominant system for CFPS (Figure 3). After decades of optimization, E. coli CFPS routinely achieves yields of target proteins exceeding 1 mg/mL.^{152,153} Its versatility is evident in the synthesis of various antibody formats and other pharmacological proteins such as Serratiopeptidase¹⁵⁴ and antimicrobial proteins like colicins.¹⁵⁵ The scalability of *E. coli* CFPS has been demonstrated, with reactions scaled up to 100 L, as exemplified in a study showcasing the production of GM-CSF.¹⁵⁶ However, the most promising applications lie in personalized medicine and the point-of-care synthesis of pharmaceutical products, given the minimal requirements for conducting a cell-free reaction.¹⁵⁷ Additionally, CFPS offers screening capabilities, e.g., facilitating the rapid development and identification of new antibodies.¹⁵⁸ Similar to cell-based approaches, synthesizing more complex eukaryotic proteins in E. coli CFPS can pose challenges. Despite numerous attempts to enhance disulfide bond formation¹⁵⁹ and the incorporation of specific glycans,^{152,153,160–162} the correct folding and post-translational modification of these proteins remain limiting factors.

While yeasts are extensively employed in industrial large-scale production, their utilization for CFPS is relatively underdeveloped. Interestingly, a huge effort was made by Jewett and co-workers starting in 2013 to generate a highly productive cellfree system based on *S. cerevisiae*.¹⁶³ They optimized different factors such as the extract preparation, byproduct removal, energy metabolism and implementation of an internal ribosome

Table 3. Protein Yields of Commonly Used Cell-Free Systems Used for the Synthesis of Pharmaceutical Relevant Proteins

System	Yield [µg/mL]	Synthesized protein	Ref
E. coli	2300	GFP	Caschera et al. 2014^{152}
	1400	Trastuzumab and brentuximab	Groff et al. 2014 ¹⁹¹
	700	GM-CSF	Zawada et al. 2011 ¹⁵⁶
V. natrigens	250	Opistoporin	Des Soye et al. 2018 ¹⁹²
L. tarentolae	300	eGFP	Mureev et al. 2009 ¹⁹³
Wheat germ	1600	GFP	Harbers 2014 ¹⁹⁴
	>20	scFv	Kawasaki et al. 2003 ¹⁹⁵
Tobacco	3000	eYFP	Das Gupta et al. 2022 ¹⁴⁶
	150	vitronectin-specific full-size antibody M12 CNTF	Buntru et al. 2015 ¹⁹⁶
	20		Richardson et al. 2018 ⁴⁸
S. cerevisiae	60	HPV-VLP	Wang et al. 2008 ¹⁹⁷
	40	EPO	Sullivan et al. 2016 ¹⁹⁸
Insect (Sf21)	286	EGFR	Quast et al. 2016 ¹⁹⁹
	30	Anti-FITC scFv	Stech et al. 2013 ¹⁷⁹
СНО	950	EGFR	Thoring et al. 2017 ¹⁷⁵
	250	IgG and scFv-Fc	Stech et al. 2017 ²⁰⁰
	124	EPO	Gurramkonda et al. 2015 ¹⁷⁶
Human	43	Hirudin	Wüstenhagen et al. 2020 ¹⁸⁴
	49	CNTF	Richardson et al. 2018 ⁴⁸

entry site (IRES).^{163–166} The IRES element, discovered in the 5' untranslated region of mRNAs, enables translation initiation in a

cap-independent manner, adding flexibility for utilizing CFPS.¹⁶⁷ Finally, they were able to utilize their developed system for a yeast-based ribosome display method to evolve capindependent translation initiation sequences.¹⁶⁸ Furthermore, Jewett and co-workers were able to create a knockout library for rapidly prototyping strains for cell-free protein synthesis.¹⁶⁹ This idea was taken up later on by Polizzi and co-workers who undertook strain engineering of P. pastoris to increase protein production efficiency.¹⁷⁰ With this approach, they reached a remarkable titer of 48.1 mg/L human serum albumin. Polizzi et al. further pushed the dissemination of protocols for the development of yeast-based cell-free protein synthesis systems.¹⁷¹ In recent research on CFPS-based yeast systems the focus is still on strain engineering for cell-free biomanufacturing¹⁷² and translation mechanism analysis.¹⁷³ Systems involving S. cerevisiae and P. pastoris have been demonstrated to function but still have an acceptance level that falls behind other eukaryotic cell-free systems.

The dominance of CHO as a mammalian expression host also has an impact in the area of CFPS, as it is the highest-yielding mammalian CFPS system reported so far, reaching 500 mg/L and above for some target proteins.^{174,175} Due to the presence of ER-derived membranous structures, the synthesis of membrane proteins and incorporation of PTMs like glycans are supported. This enables the synthesis of pharmaceutically relevant glycoproteins, such as EPO.¹⁷⁶ The PEGylated form of EPO (Mircera) was already approved by the FDA in 2007 and is prescribed against anemia associated with kidney diseases.¹⁷⁷ Since it is known that the human body can form anti-PEG antibodies and that PEG can therefore trigger allergic reactions and limit the effect of the therapeutic agent, research has been carried out into alternative stabilizers to PEG. Such an alternative could be based on linear polyglycerol (LPG) due to its similar structure and characteristics compared to PEG.¹⁷⁸ A first comparison of the cell proliferation effects of LPG- EPO and PEG-EPO was performed by synthesizing the different molecules in an insect-based cell-free system. The LPG-EPO showed a comparable activity and demonstrated a prolonged half lifetime compared to nonmodified EPO.⁶²

Other examples include various antibody formats^{179–181} and bone morphogenetic protein.¹⁸² In the latter example, the synthesis yield of human bone morphogenetic protein was compared in cell-free and cell-based expression system. Interestingly, the CHO-based cell-free synthesis was able to produce a much higher protein yield (40 μ g/mL) compared to stably transfected CHO cells (153 pg/mL) and transiently transfected HEK cells (280 ng/mL). The limited yields in cellbased expression systems might result from a negative feedback interaction of the synthesized protein.¹⁸³

Beside CHO, also human cell extracts can be utilized to perform CFPS. However, they usually lag in terms of protein yields compared to the CHO-system.¹⁸⁴ Recently Aleksashin et al. described a highly efficient human cell-free translation system based on HEK293T cells.¹⁸⁵ They reinvented the work of Mikami et al.¹⁸⁶ by also increasing the amount of GADD34, thus improving transcription. They improved translation efficiency by engineering cells to endogenously express GADD34 and K3L proteins, which suppress phosphorylation of translation initiation factor eIF2 α . With this adaptation, they were able to get a 30-fold increase of active Nluc expression.¹⁸⁵ Unfortunately, the total protein yield or final concentration is not mentioned in the publication.

L. tarentolae is also used for CFPS.^{187,188} Besides the first optimization studies only limited reports are based on *L. tarentolae*. Quite recently, *L. tarentolae* was used in comparison to an *E. coli* cell-free system to develop a rapid and cost-effective polypeptide prototyping system. With this system, a wide variety of disulfide-constrained peptides, macrocyclic peptides, and antibody fragments were successfully synthesized in an active form.¹⁸⁹

While initially, the utilization of a plant-based system for the production of human proteins seems to have some drawbacks, initial reports on the tobacco BY-2 system indicate promising prospects. With yields reaching up to the mg range and its scalability, allowing for reaction volumes up to 10 L, it currently stands as the most productive eukaryotic CFPS system.¹⁴⁶ Remarkably, it surpasses the more prominent representative of plant-based CFPS, wheat germ extract, in terms of both efficiency and productivity. Similar to mammalian lysates, tobacco lysates contain microsomes, facilitating the translocation and post-translational modification of target proteins. This capability enables the synthesis of pharmaceuticals such as full-length antibodies, epidermal growth factor (EGF)¹⁴⁶ and virus-like particles.¹⁹⁰

Since mammalian cells, E. coli and yeast cells are the most common expression systems for in vivo (Figure 2) and in vitro expression of proteins, we briefly consider the cost of CFPS. For example, regarding E. coli, in 2012 the cell-free transcriptiontranslation (TXTL) system was compared to other E. coli systems and can therefore be seen as a relative measure. The cost per mg protein was estimated to be \$ 4.00/mg,²⁰¹ an equivalent in purchasing power to about \$5.46 today.²⁰² It is due to the lower cost of E. coli CFPS that this system has been applied at larger scale, e.g., by Sutro Biopharma.^{93,156} As such, bioconjugated pharmaceutical proteins can be produced at reasonable cost at small scale, e.g., the E. coli-based polysaccharide-protein conjugate system (iVAX), using protein glycan coupling technology, can produce 24 μ g of conjugate vaccine ($\simeq 1$ dose) for \$ 0.50 - \$1.00 per dose depending on storage conditions. In contrast, in vivo production in E. coli in optimized bioprocesses costs \$0.04/g, which is several orders of magnitude lower.

With increasingly reported higher yields for *K. pastoris*, the production costs per mg of protein are being reduced; $1^{70,203}$ however, yields of *S. cerevisiae* are still relatively low.

Regarding mammalian CFPS, a techno-economic assessment (TEA) revealed the cost differences between small-scale production (up to 25 kg of mAb/year) and large-scale production (up to 200 kg of mAb/year) of CFPS versus CHO cell-based production.²⁰⁴ DNA recycling was discovered as a significant cost-reducing factor for CFPS. For large scale production, the unit production cost (UPC) for *in vivo* production is \$85, while for *in vitro* production, the cost is \$1925. In the smaller-scale CFPS the UPC was in the same order of magnitude, \$986 (*in vivo*) versus \$2466 (*in vitro*). Several suggestions were made to reduce the cost of CFPS; however, the highest costs were related to operational costs, DNA concentrations, and enzyme amounts needed in the reaction.

It is obvious from these few examples that if rapid development is a significant cost factor, then CFPS could potentially be important for production at scale. In addition, due to the open nature of CFPS, pharmaceutical protein development, especially when combined with bioconjugation, could become competitive in the future. However, for simple proteins, such as industrial enzymes or for food production, CFPS must pubs.acs.org/CR



Figure 4. Strategies for cotranslational incorporation of noncanonical amino acids. A) Depletion of a canonical amino acid from the growth media or cell-free reaction mix with the simultaneous supplementation of a noncanonical analogue can lead to an incorporation of the analogue instead of the original amino acid. This however, requires the corresponding aaRS to have a certain promiscuity toward its substrate, either be default or through protein engineering. This results in a protein wide replacement of the canonical amino acid by its analogon incorporation. B) Utilizing a tRNA that recognizes a stop-codon, the stop-codon can be suppressed to incorporate a NCAA. Recharging of the tRNA can be realized by the addition of a corresponding aaRS. To ensure site-specific NCAA incorporation at the stop-codon position, the tRNA and aaRS pair must be orthogonal to the host system, meaning that there is no inteference between endogenous tRNA/aaRS and the newly introduced pair. C) By depleting or deleting certain endogenous tRNA species, vacant codons are created. These codons can be reassigned to the NCAA using orthogonal tRNA/aaRS pairs. D) By the introduction of quadruplet codons the genetic code can be expanded further; this requires tRNAs recognizing these quadruplets specifically as well as corresponding orthogonal aaRS. Together with the use of orthogonal mRNAs and ribosome, this enables the introduction of several new codons in one template.

solve the increased production to titers well over 20-50 g/L, while reducing the material costs.

Antibody-based drugs have emerged throughout the past few decades as the most important class of pharmaceutical proteins. The first full-length IgG (mouse monoclonal antibody MAK33) was successfully synthesized by Frey et al. in 2008 using an *E. coli* cell-free system supplemented with protein disulfide isomerases and chaperones.²⁰⁵ Four years later, Yin et al. demonstrated for the first time the successful synthesis of the therapeutic antibody trastuzumab. Moreover, they were able to conduct the synthesis in a scalable transcription/translation system with protein yields of ~400 μ g/mL.²⁰⁶ Ever since the first antibody was produced in a CFPS system,²⁰⁷ the field has moved rapidly to include more complex antibody-conjugated protein drugs.²⁰⁷

The described examples of cell-free synthesized ADCs were done in prokaryotic-based cell-free systems with limited posttranslational modifications such as glycosylations and limitations in folding and assembly of full-length IgG. For some antibodies, glycosylation is crucial for conformation and stability.²⁰⁸ Therefore, the use of eukaryotic systems could be beneficial. In particular, systems that contain endogenous membrane vesicles based on endoplasmic reticulum, so-called microsomes can perform core glycosylation and disulfide bridging.²⁰⁹

The synthesis of full-length IgG has been demonstrated in different eukaryotic systems. For example, Buntru et al. produced a vitronectin-specific full-size human antibody in a tobacco BY-2 cell lysate by coexpressing the HC and LC by two different vectors.¹⁹⁶ By enriching the BY-2 lysate with an 8-fold amount of microsomes, the total protein yield of the antibody

was increased 4-fold up to $150 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$. The BY-2 lysate has been further evolved in recent years to serve as a production platform.¹⁴⁵ Adalimumab was synthesized at 10 mL scale showing comparable binding affinities to CHO-produced mAb.²¹⁰

Not long thereafter, two research groups independently demonstrated the successful synthesis of an IgG in CHO cell-free systems. Martin et al. used a commercially available CHO extract and optimized the reaction conditions by establishing an oxidizing environment to maximize protein yield of disulfide bridged antibody.¹⁸¹ This system was utilized as a tool for ranking the yields of candidate antibodies for automated expression analysis. In contrast, Stech et al. have used an inhouse produced CHO cell-free system with endogenous microsomes for the synthesis of a SMAD2 antibody.²⁰⁰ The adaptation of the reaction conditions to an oxidizing environment was not necessary for this construct.

In addition to the synthesis of complex proteins, CFPS facilitates the synthesis of peptides. Using the parallelizability of the system, CFPS becomes a valuable tool for screening biologically active peptides, such as antimicrobial peptides.^{211,212} Furthermore, ribosomally synthesized post-translationally modified peptides (RIPPs) are promising candidates for pharmaceutical applications, including antitumor agents and antimicrobial ingredients. However, achieving these modifications in cell-free systems involves the recreation of biosynthetic pathways, as exemplified by lanthipeptides like the antimicrobial Nisin.²¹³ In a different approach, various biosynthetic clusters for the synthesis of lasso peptides were expressed cell-free, concurrently with a library of fewer than 1000 template

Review

sequences, resulting in a diverse array of newly sequenced lasso peptides.²¹⁴ Expanding further, CFPS has been employed to synthesize entire nonribosomal peptide synthetase (NRPS) complexes. Pioneering this effort, Goering et al. synthesized two NRPS complexes, each exceeding 100 kDa, enabling the subsequent synthesis of the precursor molecule diketopiperazine.²¹⁵ Recently, a groundbreaking achievement was demonstrated with the extract-based cell-free synthesis of a final natural product using valinomycin as an example. This was accomplished through the one-pot synthesis of two complete NRPSs, 370 and 284 kDa, respectively. Further process optimizations and a switch to a two-step reaction led to yields of 30 mg/L of valinomycin.²¹⁶ With several cell-free produced biologics currently in clinical trials, all the way up to phase III, it is only a matter of time before we see true industrial applications come to market.

4. CO-TRANSLATIONAL INCORPORATION OF NONCANONICAL AMINO ACIDS

The use of noncanonical amino acids (NCAAs) is an important method to introduce unique chemical handles, e.g., azide, aldehyde, or ketone, by replacing a natural amino acid with its analogue. Bioorthogonal groups are strategically positioned in the protein to have a minimal effect on the conformation of the target-binding site to avoid interference with the protein's activity.²¹⁷

Orthogonal protein translation with NCAAshas become a common method in biosciences. Even though many endeavors are made to broaden the NCAA's chemical space, much work is still to be done regarding their systematic, low-cost *in situ* production (Figure 4). Improved host cell strains need to be engineered to utilize designed biosynthetic pathways coupled with orthogonal aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase/tRNA pairs (opairs). These host strains are needed to provide cost-effective solutions for industrially relevant pharmaceutical proteins. Therefore, coupling genetic code expansion (GCE) with metabolic engineering is the basic prerequisite to transform orthogonal translation from a standard technique in academic research to industrial biotechnology.²¹⁸

From a historical perspective, the utilization of NCAAs in the integration of proteins and peptides represents a prevalent strategy to broaden the functional repertoire of these biomolecules. Various techniques have been employed to accomplish this objective. Approaches for incorporating NCAAs into proteins can be grouped into two principal categories: cotranslational and post-translational strategies. While post-translational modifications surely have their advantages, this review centers on the cotranslational methods.

The advent of chemical²¹⁹ and chemoenzymatic methodologies^{219,220} for aminoacylation of tRNA introduced the possibility of misacylation of tRNAs. This paved the way for enabling the site-specific integration of noncanonical amino acids by conjugating them to a suppressor tRNA specific to the amber stop codon (UAG).^{221,222} Propelled by novel discoveries like the Flexizyme technology, which facilitates tRNA aminoacylation through a ribozyme,²²³ this approach can serve as a readily available solution for protein modification. A key advantage lies in its substrate flexibility, as it is not constrained by the specificity of aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases, enabling the incorporation of diverse bulky NCAAs, such as conjugated fluorophores.²²⁴ However, even within synthetic cell-free systems, a limitation persists concerning the size of NCAAs, dictated by tRNA recognition by the elongation factor EF-Tu (eEF-1 in eukaryotes).^{225,226} Nevertheless, the primary drawbacks are the constrained yields and the restricted applicability to protein expression in live cells, as exemplified by the microelectroporation of CHO cells with tRNA.²²⁷

Ohno et al. utilized a yeast aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase (aaRS) and tRNA (tRNA) pair in Escherichia coli to facilitate amber suppression, marking a significant milestone as the first aaRS capable of charging a suppressor tRNA in 1998.²²⁸ The initial orthogonal aaRS systems employed for NCAA incorporation were derived from a tyrosyl-tRNA synthetase (TyrRS), as described by Wang et al.²²⁹ and Chin et al.²³⁰ The first orthogonal TyrRS system tailored for the incorporation of Omethyl-L-tyrosine based on the TyrRS/TyrT from the archaea Methanococcus jannaschii (mjTyrRS/mjTyrT) exhibited orthogonality in *E. coli²²⁹* but not in mammalian cells.²³¹ A limitation that can be circumvented by using an alternative pair based on the *E. coli* TyrRS/TyrT, allowing NCAA incorporation in mammalian systems.²³⁰ Additionally, a hybrid of these two synthetases was designed to combine the functionality of *mj*TyrRS with the orthogonality of *ec*TyrRS toward mammalian cells.²³² To this day, TyrRS-based orthogonal pairs continue to be extensively used, enabling the incorporation of more than 50 predominantly aromatic NCAAs.²³³

Orthogonal pairs based on other canonical aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases, such as Tryptophanyl-tRNA synthetase (TrpRS)²³⁴ or Leucyl-tRNA synthetase (LeuRS)^{235,236} have also been reported but are less commonly employed.²³⁷ However, the most prominent orthogonal pairs originate from the archaeal PylRS family. These naturally occurring synthetases were initially discovered in 2002 within methanotrophic archaea, where they facilitate the integration of pyrrolysine into nascent proteins. A notable characteristic is their natural capability as amber suppressors.²³⁸ Moreover, PylRS lacks an anticodon-recognition domain and does not rely on anticodon recognition by tRNA,^{239,240} making it suitable for opal (UGA) and ochre (UAA) suppression.^{241,242} Due to their archaeal origin, they naturally exhibit orthogonality in both prokaryotes and eukaryotes,²⁴³ with yeast being the exception.²⁴⁴

Alternatively, an approach to enable the incorporation of multiple NCAAs involves the addressing of sense codons. One straightforward method to achieve this is by capitalizing on the promiscuity of certain aaRS. This can be accomplished, for instance, by feeding a E. coli strain with an auxotrophy for a specific amino acid, with an analogue of just that amino acid. This was first shown by growing a leucine auxotroph strain in a leucine-depleted medium supplemented with the leucine analogue, 5',5',5'-trifluoroleucine.²⁴⁵ Strategies of this nature can find utility in incorporating labeled NCAAs to assist in structural elucidation via X-ray crystallography and NMR,²⁴⁶ or enhancing protein stability.²⁴⁷ Such endeavors can benefit from further engineering of the specific aaRS to enhance their acceptance of the analogue.²⁴⁸ This approach can also be applied to introduce multiple NCAAs.²⁴⁹ However, it is important to note that this method lacks specificity and there is a possibility of adverse effects resulting from protein-wide NCAA incorporation.

A more precise approach involves the reassignment of sense codons, necessitating the construction of vacant codons through genomewide substitution with synonymous codons. This was exemplified in *E. coli*, where 62,214 codons were replaced, resulting in an *E. coli* strain with only 57 codons.²⁵⁰ In another strategy, a 61-codon *E. coli* strain was designed, leaving the amber codon and serine codons (TCG and TCA) vacant.²⁵¹

Further refinement of this strain has facilitated the incorporation of various NCAAs into GFP multimers.²⁵²

Taking translational machinery redesign to the next level, quadruplet codons have been harnessed for the incorporation of NCAAs.²⁵³ Building upon the foundation of an orthogonal ribosome designed to decode amber codons from an orthogonal mRNA,²⁵⁴ orthogonal ribosomes have been engineered to decode quadruplet codons, thereby enabling the integration of NCAAs.²⁵⁵ This pioneering work soon found its applicability in mammalian cells,²⁵⁶ and ongoing refinements^{257–259} have resulted in increased efficiency, allowing for the incorporation of up to four distinct NCAAs in *E. coli.*²⁵⁸

Though the protein yields from such technologies are currently economically impractical, they are pushing the boundaries of life itself, providing a glimpse into the future of synthetic biology. At the same time, we have access to several well-established and robust methods today that facilitate the incorporation of over 200 structurally diverse NCAAs.²³³ The applications of these methods range from protein labeling,^{260,261} incorporation of a variety of PTMs,²⁶² supporting live-cell²⁶³ and super-resolution imaging,²⁶⁴ to expanding the genetic code of living multicellular organisms themselves,^{265,266} even treating diabetes in mice.²⁶²

4.1. The Role of tRNAs and tRNA Modifications in CFPS and NCAA Incorporation

Transfer RNAs play a crucial role in the intricate process of translation, serving as molecular adaptors that bridge the genetic information encoded in mRNA with the amino acid sequence of proteins. These small RNA molecules, typically consisting of about 70-90 nucleotides, are essential components of the cellular machinery responsible for protein synthesis.²⁶⁷ Each tRNA molecule is charged with a specific amino acid, and during translation, it accurately interprets the genetic code by basepairing with the complementary codon on the mRNA. This critical interaction ensures the correct placement of amino acids in the growing polypeptide chain, facilitating the precise translation of the genetic information from nucleic acids to functional proteins.²⁶⁸ The adaptability and specificity of tRNAs in recognizing both codons and amino acids make them fundamental players in translation.²⁶⁹ Although tRNAs are initially transcribed from genomic DNA, they undergo a series of modifications, such as for example methylation and thiolation, which are crucial for their structural stability, accurate decoding of mRNA codons, and participation in the translation process.²⁷⁰⁻²⁷² These post-transcriptional modifications of tRNAs play a pivotal role in ensuring their optimal functionality during protein synthesis. The modifications influence tRNA folding, stability, and interactions with aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases, ensuring proper amino acid charging.²⁷³ To date, 334 different nucleoside and nucleotide modifications are reported.²⁷⁴ Additionally, modified bases within the anticodon region contribute to codon-anticodon recognition, enhancing the fidelity of translation.²⁷⁵ The diversity of post-transcriptional modifications not only enhances the overall structural integrity of tRNAs but also fine-tunes their binding properties. E. coli tRNAs harbor up to eight modifications in one tRNA meaning that approximately 12% of the nucleosides of the molecules have additional modifications.²⁷⁶ In summary, post-transcriptional modifications are essential for maintaining the functionality and accuracy of tRNAs, ultimately impacting the precision and efficiency of protein synthesis in cells.²⁷⁷

In CFPS systems, tRNAs play a crucial role as essential mediators of translation. CFPS allows for protein production outside living cells by utilizing purified components of the translation machinery. tRNAs, charged with specific amino acids, serve as key adapters in the decoding process. They accurately recognize and pair with codons on the mRNA template, facilitating the incorporation of amino acids into the growing polypeptide chain.²⁶⁸ The manipulation of tRNAs and tRNA populations holds significant potential in CFPS, offering a versatile avenue for tailoring protein production. By introducing engineered tRNAs with altered specificity or charging capabilities, researchers can expand the repertoire of amino acids that can be incorporated into proteins, thereby enabling the synthesis of proteins with diverse chemical functionalities.^{278,279} Additionally, tRNA manipulation in CFPS systems provides a means to optimize translation efficiency, fine-tune codon usage, and enhance the fidelity of protein synthesis. This level of control is particularly advantageous in the context of CFPS, where reactions can be tailored for specific applications, such as the production of modified or labeled proteins for structural studies, biotechnological applications, or even the creation of artificial, biobased materials.^{280,281} Overall, the ability to manipulate tRNAs in CFPS opens avenues for innovative and customized protein synthesis strategies. Researchers can achieve precise control over protein synthesis, offering a versatile platform for protein engineering and synthesis in a controlled laboratory setting.

4.2. Common Approaches of tRNA Manipulation in CFPS

4.2.1. Stop-Codon Suppression. Stop codon suppression is a naturally occurring process in certain organisms that exhibit an expanded genetic code to incorporate selected amino acids in response to a stop codon. For example, selenocysteine is encoded by the opal codon and pyrrolysine by the amber codon.^{282,283} Stop codon suppression is widely used for sitedirected incorporation of NCAAs into proteins and is achieved by the introduction of the stop codon by site-directed mutagenesis. However, due to competition between the release factors and the suppressor tRNA for interaction with the stop codon, usually two types of translation products are obtained: the truncated termination product and the full-length suppression product containing the desired NCAA. Recent research, aimed at enhancing the efficiency of incorporating NCAAs into proteins and facilitating the incorporation of multiple copies of an NCAA, has primarily concentrated on methods to minimize interference with release factors. In E. coli, RF1 is targeting TAG (amber stop codon), and RF2 is targeting TGA (opal stop codon), with both release factors recognizing TAA (ochre stop codon).²⁸⁴ In *E. coli* RF1 has been successfully deleted to increase the incorporation of NCAA.²⁸⁵ Further development of this strain was done by large-scale mutagenesis of the TAG stop codon to TAA to minimize the readthrough of endogenous stops and suppress the negative side-effects of the RF1 deletion. Mukai et al. exchanged 95 TAG stop codons in an E. coli BL21(DE3) RF1 deletion strain showing that the growth defect of the RF1 deletion could be rescued.²

4.2.2. Sense Codon Reassignment. There are 61 naturally occurring sense codons with a great deal of redundancy, as groups of two to four and, at best, even six codons are synonymously read by families of tRNA isoacceptors. This degenerated code allows for the reassignment of sense codons. Sense codon reassignment is a process that involves replacing one or more sense codons in the genetic code, followed by the

removal of the decoding tRNA. This frees up the codon from the canonical genetic code and allows for the reassignment of the codon to encode an NCAA. This process is termed synonymous codon compression. The pioneer work in establishing the concept of genetic code reprogramming by sense codon reassignment was done by Forster et al. The authors reassigned three sense codons to the ochre codon UAA using chemo-enzymatically charged tRNAs in a reconstituted translation system lacking aaRSs.²⁸⁷ Recent advances elucidate the role of tRNA modifications in enhancing sense codon reassignment.

Queuosine is a nonessential, hypermodified guanosine nucleoside found in position 34 of the anticodons of four *E. coli* tRNAs. One suggested purpose of queuosine at position 34 is to reduce the preference of tRNAs with guanosine at position 34 of the anticodon for decoding cytosine-ending codons over uridine-ending codons. Queuosine modification has been identified in tRNAs having QUN anticodons across most organisms.²⁸⁸ Furthermore, m1G37 modification in tRNA CGGPro of *E. coli* is required for high-affinity binding to a cognate CCG codon in the decoding center of the ribosome. The m1G37 modification in anticodon stem loop stabilizes high-affinity interactions in the cognate case but prevents recognition of slippery codons that would result in -1 frameshifting.²⁸⁹

4.2.3. Synthetic tRNAs in PURE. Synthetic tRNAs are an option to introduce reassigned tRNAs back into the CFPS reaction. An outstanding example is the E. coli PURE system, which stands for "Protein synthesis Using Recombinant Elements", and is a well-established reconstructed CFPS platform that enables the in vitro synthesis of proteins using purified components derived from E. coli. This system provides a controlled and defined environment for protein production, allowing researchers to study and manipulate translation processes outside the complexities of living cell. Enzymes involved in transcription and translation, such as RNA polymerase and aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases, are recombinantly produced and purified. This allows for the efficient initiation and elongation of protein synthesis. The drawback of the synthetic or in vitro transcribed tRNAs is the lower fidelity and drop in overall protein yield. In fact, new advances by McFeely et al. (2022) demonstrated the superior performance of fully modified wildtype tRNAs over the t7 tRNA in encoding multiple NCAA within a single codon box.²⁹⁰ The 6-fold degenerate leucine codon family can be reassigned to encode three amino acids, including two NCAAs. The wild-type tRNA, but not the In vitro transcribed tRNA, was discriminated with enough fidelity to support the biosynthesis of a peptide bearing two NCAAs in a PURE translation system.²⁹¹

4.3. tRNA Capture Techniques for Depletion

To allow the specific application of synthetic tRNAs, CFPS extracts need to be depleted from the native tRNA pools. The depletion of the total tRNA pools is achieved by using two commonly used techniques:

1. Ethanolamine Sepharose columns: It was discovered by accident that 90% of native tRNA in rabbit reticulocyte lysates could be separated by covalent interactions using the chemical groups of ethanolamine anchored to the resin.²⁹² For this method, a column of epoxy-activated Sepharose 6B is used. Optimization of the equilibration buffer of the column resulted in the elimination of about 95% of the total endogenous tRNAs in S30 extracts.²⁹³ Although the process is simple and the removal efficient a

small amount of tRNA is still present, which can interfere with reassigning the genetic code.

2. RNase-coated magnetic beads: This approach utilizes superparamagnetic beads coated with ribonuclease A (RNase A) to enzymatically degrade tRNAs within the cell extract. The activity of the RNase A attached to the beads can be regulated to degrade tRNAs, and subsequently, the RNase A can be removed from the extract. This protocol makes full use of the protective effect of nucleoproteins, meaning that the RNase A degrades tRNAs but not rRNAs which are in complex with ribosomal proteins.²⁹⁴ Additionally, the cell extract is treated with phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) to inhibit proteases and prevent leaching of RNase A into the cell extract. The effectiveness of tRNA removal was demonstrated with an average removal ratio of 99.3% after 60 min of incubation.

Other approaches include the substitution of specific tRNAs to facilitate the tRNA reassignment. For this, only a subset of the tRNAs is removed from the cell extract. Here, resin-bound colicin D and DNA hybridization chromatography have been successfully used.^{295–299}

4.4. tRNA Purification Methods

Several methods are available for the purification of specific individual tRNAs from in vivo environments. These include the hydrophobic tagging method, DNA probe-elution method, and DNA probe-digestion method.^{300–304} The hydrophobic tagging method involves using a hydrophobic tag to isolate and purify specific aminoacylated tRNAs based on their high molecular weight. The DNA probe-elution method utilizes biotinylated DNA oligonucleotides immobilized on streptavidin agarose beads to isolate individual tRNAs from total RNA. Lastly, the DNA probe-digestion method involves the use of biotinylated DNA oligonucleotide probes to extract targeted tRNA fractions, which are then released via digestion with DNase I. On the other hand, in vitro tRNA production methods include enzymatic and chemical synthesis.^{305,306} Enzymatic synthesis involves using T7 RNA polymerase to transcribe tRNAs. However, the transcription efficiency of T7 RNA polymerase depends on the specific recognition of its cognate promoter sequence, which can result in 3'-end heterogeneity.³⁰⁷ Chemical synthesis involves solid-phase chemical synthesis, which allows for modifications and easy purification but requires expensive equipment.³

The addition of purified tRNAs circumvents limited and species dependent codon usage during protein synthesis. This involves addressing the redundancy in the standard genetic code by excluding the influence of endogenous tRNAs in a cell-free system. The tRNA-depleted S30 extract and PURE Δ tRNA system have been used for reassigning sense codons in protein synthesis, allowing for the construction of a tRNA pool covering the decoding of 20 natural amino acids.^{309,310} Although challenges remain in completely removing native tRNAs, this approach has significantly broadened the artificially designed platform for protein synthesis using the smallest number of codons and allowed for the incorporation of NCAAs.

4.4.1. Future Developments. Efforts to engineer the binding pocket have led to the incorporation of over 100 different chemical moieties by PylRS from *Methanosarcina barkeri (mbPylRS)* and *Methanosarcina mazei (mmPylRS)*.²³³ However, their principal limitation lies in the N-terminal domain's propensity for aggregation, which can potentially be mitigated with N-terminal solubility tags.³¹¹ Genome mining

efforts have unveiled a novel type of PylRS from *Methanomethylophilus alvus* lacking the problematic N-terminal domain.³¹² This new PylRS has been demonstrated to effectively incorporate a variety of NCAAs,^{313,314} though the simple transfer of specificity for certain NCAAs from mb/mmPylRS variants to maPylRS is not always feasible.^{315,316} Furthermore, the tRNAs of *Methanosarcina* PylRS and *ma*PylRS cannot be freely interchanged. While *mm*PylRS can charge *ma*PylT, no tRNA aminoacylation was observed *vice versa*. This discovery has opened new avenues for the creation of mutually orthogonal PylRS pairs. Such orthogonality has been successfully achieved by introducing modifications in the variable loop of *ma*PylT, resulting in mutually orthogonal PylRS pairs in *E. coli*,³¹² mammalian cells,³¹⁷ and yeast.³¹⁸

When used in conjunction with other aaRS, such as *mj*TyrRS, employing several mutually orthogonal pairs theoretically supports the incorporation of multiple distinct NCAAs. Indeed, exploration of various uncharacterized PylRS has led to the construction of quintuple mutually orthogonal pairs, although the incorporation of NCAAs into proteins with those quintuple orthogonal pairs has not been demonstrated.³¹⁹ Notably, the competition of suppressor tRNAs with the release factor usually leads to a truncated translation product alongside the desired readthrough product. This reduces the efficiency when multiple UAG (amber) codons or even multiple different stop codons, within a single mRNA transcript drastically.³²⁰ In *E. coli*, release factor 1 mediates termination at the UAG and UAA stop codon (ochre), whereas RF2 acts on UGA (opal) and UAA codons as well. Thus, disrupting RF1-stop codon interaction can greatly increase UAG suppression efficiency with only minor effects on overall translation termination. The overexpression of the Cterminal domain of ribosomal protein L11 as a competitor of RF for the ribosome increased the efficiency of the incorporation of N^{*e*}-acetyl-L-lysine at three sites.³²¹ In a more drastic approach RF1 was completely knocked out, and rendering the organism incapable of terminating at UAG codons, rendering the organism incapable of terminating at amber codons.³²⁰ Additionally, recoding of essential amber codons or the entire genome from amber to ochre codons together with an RF1 knockout, resulted in *E. coli* strains such as $321.\Delta A$ allowing for higher NCAA incorporation efficiencies.³²² Since then, the strain 321. ΔA has been a scaffold for several further optimizations and applications.³²³⁻³²⁵

In eukaryotes, the situation is more intricate as all stop codons share the same release factor. Nevertheless, engineering approaches have yielded modified eRF1 with a single-point mutation that reduces its affinity for the amber stop codon, enhancing the suppression efficiency of the amber stop codon when coupled with an optimized PyIRS/PyIT pair by up to 20-fold.³²⁶ A similar strategy for modifying eRF1 has yielded promising outcomes for the suppression of various stop codons within mammalian cells notably increasing the efficiency from 0.78% to 11.6% through the implementation of triply orthogonal pairs.³²⁷

Due to their open and versatile nature, most technologies for incorporating NCAAs can be seamlessly applied in CFPS systems by simply supplementing the CFPS with the requisite components. Early on, the ability to effortlessly introduce precharged tRNA into the translation reaction in lysates from *E. coli* or rabbit reticulocytes played a pivotal role in shaping the development of cotranslational NCAA incorporation. Unlike living cells, CFPS is not bound by constraints related to cell viability or cellular membranes, making it particularly remarkable for its ease of manipulation when it comes to controlling reaction conditions. For example, it allows for relatively straightforward, residue-specific NCAA incorporation by utilizing amino acid-depleted lysates and supplementing them with an amino acid mixture containing the desired NCAAs.³²⁸

The zenith of user-defined CFPS is the PURE system, a cellfree system reconstructed from highly purified molecular components, including ribosomes, translation factors, and RNA.^{329,330} By supplying translation components such as tRNAs individually, PURE enables users to directly modify the genetic code, allowing for facile sense codon reassignment.^{331–333} Using a fully synthetic tRNA pool of 32 tRNAs, it has been possible to incorporate three different NCAAs.³³⁴ However, it is important to note that synthetic tRNA leads to lower protein yields in PURE compared to using native tRNA pools.³³² While the defined nature of PURE makes it a valuable tool for unraveling the molecular functions of the translation machinery, it tends to be costlier and yields proteins at a moderate rate. More commonly, CFPS focuses on using cell lysates. In this scenario, sense codon reassignment can be achieved by selectively sequestering specific tRNAs from the lysates, as demonstrated for both *E. coli* lysate and the eukaryotic L. tarentolae lysate.³³⁵

Nevertheless, the most prevalent approach to NCAA incorporation involves stopping codon suppression. Besides the possibility to externally supply suppressor tRNAs, they can also be coexpressed. Therefore, ribozymes that self-cleave into functional tRNA are transcribed.³³⁶ Due to the resilience of CFPS to otherwise harmful substances and conditions, toxic amino acids such as canavanine can be incorporated.³³⁷ Also, the use of aaRS concentration far above physiological concentrations can be applied, as shown for a PyIRS from Archeon ISO4-G1, that allowed the otherwise inefficient incorporation of N^e-(p-ethynylbenzyloxycarbonyl)-L-lysine, yielding over 1 mg/mL protein.³³⁸

Just as in cells, the competition between the release factor and suppressor tRNA can lead to truncated protein products. Various strategies have been devised to address this issue. One example is the utilization of an RF1-specific RNA aptamer to deactivate RF1 in the PURE reaction. Another approach involves using recoded organisms for lysate production, as exemplified by the 321. Δ A strain mentioned earlier. After further refinement, 321. Δ A based CFPS enabled the incorporation of an NCAA at up to 40 positions with yields of nearly 100 μ g/mL in *E. coli* CFPS.^{192,339}

In the realm of eukaryotes, cell-line engineering has been employed to generate stably transfected CHO cells for lysate preparation, which readily include the TyrRS or PylRS.²⁰³ While CFPS predominantly adapts approaches originally developed for living cells, it also possesses the potential to drive the development of novel technologies that can be applied in cellbased expression systems. For instance, the coexpression of suppressor tRNA with an sfGFP reporter has allowed for the rapid characterization of new suppressor tRNAs.³⁴⁰ Additionally, through the compartmentalization of cell-free reactions within liposomes and the application of fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS), the *in vitro* evolution of aaRS has become feasible. This approach has been exemplified with a PylRS exhibiting enhanced efficiency for the incorporation of Nbenzyloxycarbonyl-L-lysine both *in vitro*.³⁴¹

5. COMBINING CFPS, NONCONICAL AMINO ACID CONJUGATION, AND CELL-FREE METABOLIC ENGINEERING

We have framed past results to highlight the future importance of unnatural amino acids and cell-free synthesis to move beyond the boundaries of nature to produce high-quality drugs and address precision manufacturing, especially the need to combine these methods.

Site-specific coupling methods of payloads are easily integrated during cell-free protein synthesis. The components necessary for NCAA incorporation can be directly added to the translation machinery. In contrast to cell-based expression, the NCAA does not need to cross any cell membranes. In this regard, Zimmerman et al. established a cell-free protein expression system based on E. coli for production of ADCs by using the amber stop codon (UAG) suppression to integrate the noncanonical amino acid para-azidomethyl-L-phenylalanine (pAMF) at a chosen position.³⁴² The introduction of the NCAA with subsequent coupling to a chosen drug eliminates heterogeneity and instability that might occur by using stochastic conjugation via endogenous lysine and cysteine residues. By using noncanonical amino acids, the actual antibody does not need to be modified, e.g., by disulfide shuffling or additional cysteines. Also, the position of the amber stop codon in the gene sequence can be located elsewhere. There is no limitation using only N- or C-terminal tags.

The position of the conjugation site influences ADC properties such as the stability, conjugation efficiency, antigenbinding, and internalization. The ability to freely choose the position of the conjugation benefits the mentioned parameter. Therefore, a dual fluorescence reporter system for the straightforward assessment of amber suppression and connected functionality is useful. Such an assay was developed by Krebs and Rakotoarinoro et al. to determine the influence of the position of the amber stop codon to the activity of a scFv.³⁴³ Similar approaches might also work for other protein classes.

In the beginning of the development of cell-free synthesized ADCs, the integration efficiency of the NCAA was a limiting factor to the total amount of full-length ADC. Nowadays, with the vast amount of different orthogonal systems and the NCAA this limitation is circumvented. Still, a suitable orthogonal system has to be identified. Another limiting factor is the DAR of cell-free synthesized ADCs. Considering only one amber stop codon in each heavy chain, resulting in one conjugation site, the maximum DAR is two. Zimmermann et al. found in their study DAR values between 1.2 and 1.9, confirming the low DAR.³⁴²

A solution was presented in 2017. Yin et al. engineered an RF1 mutant E. coli strain in which RF1 is sensitive to OmpT protease cleavage.³⁴⁴ This approach allowed normal cell growth for the highly active extract. Furthermore, this idea was much simpler compared with knocking out RF1 completely and replacing hundreds of TAG stop codons with TAA, allowing RF2 to replace RF1. Using their modified cell extract, Yin et al. expressed trastuzumab with multiple NCAAs integrated and coupled to DBCO-PEG4-maytansine. Depending on the number of stop codons, they detected DARs of 1.77 for one stop codon, 3.83 for two stop codons, 5.82 for 3 stop codons, and 7.43 for four stop codons. The expression of the construct harboring four amber stop codons showed a decrease in the efficiency. Reasons might include suppression efficiency and general stability of the ADC. They further evaluated the influence of higher DARs on potency using a panel of different

HER2 expressing cell lines. Interestingly, they observed cell line dependent effects. On the one hand, the increasing DAR had no influence on the cell line SKBR3, whereas the cell line MDA-MB-453 was only effectively killed with ADCs that had a DAR of four or higher. In general, a higher DAR resulted in a higher potency of the ADC. HER2-negative cells were not killed independently of the DAR.

The advantages of incorporating multiple conjugation sites into the heavy chain was further utilized to create a hybrid *in vivo/in vitro* system³⁴⁵ with correctly assembled antibodies with high titers. The IgG light-chain (LC) was expressed in a conventional recombinant *E. coli* expression system, engineered to have an oxidizing cytoplasm for disulfide bridging. The LC was afterward added to a cell-free reaction synthesizing the heavy chain (HC) with multiple conjugation sites. With this strategy, the advantages of both systems were combined: high titers and simple manufacturing and incorporation of multiple NCAAs in a correctly assembled IgG.

The cell-free environment does not only provide a scaffold for protein synthesis but also for the synthesis of smaller molecules, since cell-free metabolic engineering has the potential to overcome some limitations of existing cell-based systems.³⁴⁶

In its most basic form, the homogeneous enzymes present in the cell-free extracts can be used to perform biotransformation reactions as shown for the generation of the antibiotic cefminox³⁴⁷ in Streptomyces extracts. Due to the open nature of CFPS platforms, the elucidation of biosynthetic routes can be achieved by adding labeled substrates or specifically downregulating certain pathways by the addition of inhibitors as shown for the preservative ε -poly-L-lysine.³⁴⁸ However, the true potential of cell-free extracts is shown in the development and improvement of new biosynthetic pathways in cell-free metabolic engineering (CFME). Here whole synthesis pathways can be engineered and composed from modules or enzymes that are (i) already present in the native cell-extract, (ii) heterologously expressed before lysate preparation, or (iii) synthesized in situ through CFPS.³⁴⁹ Additionally, the reaction is always accessible for the supplementation of further reagents to adjust the reaction conditions. In contrast to cell-free biosynthesis based on purified enzymes, the cumbersome preparation of pathways in which enzymes can be eliminated. Furthermore, the endogenous components in the cell extract can be used for cofactor regeneration allowing more efficient use of the starting material.^{350,351}

Compared to traditional cell-based metabolic engineering approaches, CFME has much shorter DBTL cycle times that allow for quick elucidation and fine-tuning of the modules of synthetic pathway. These possibilities were impressively shown by Karim et al. (2016)³⁵² through the construction of 17-step pathway for n-butanol synthesis in an E. coli cell-free extract. In a combinatorial approach, several enzymes were pre-expressed before lysate preparation, and the lysates containing these enzymes were mixed. The synthetic pathway further made use of enzymes and cofactors natively present in the E. coli extract including additionally in situ synthesized enzymes.³⁵² Apart from other prominent examples like DHAP,³⁵³ E. coli extract and in situ synthesized enzymes,³⁵² and 2,3-butanediol,³⁵⁴ more complex molecules have not been investigated. Combining polyketide synthase modules, enzymes for substrate generation, and cofactor regeneration in an E. coli cell-free environment, the synthesis of triketides was facilitated. These molecules can be used as building blocks e.g., for anticancer drugs.³⁵⁵

Though most of these approaches utilize prokaryotic (mostly *E. coli*) extracts, CFME is not limited to those. Recent studies show that lysates from *S. cerevisiae* or tobacco cells are well-suited for metabolic engineering and the subsequent synthesis of metabolites.^{172,356}

When it comes to the preparation of NCAAs, the exploration of biosynthetic routes for the NCAA synthesis holds considerable promise. While, to our knowledge, no cell-free approaches for this purpose currently exist, there are examples in classical expression systems. Establishing a biosynthetic pathway for NCAAs could be more sustainable than traditional chemical synthesis, and it holds the potential to reduce cultivation costs by eliminating the need to supplement the culture medium with high concentrations of NCAAs. As such, the exploration of biosynthetic routes for NCAA synthesis holds promising prospects. A pioneering example of such biosynthetic pathways were demonstrated by the creation of a fully autonomous E. coli strain with para-amino-phenylalanine as the 21st amino acid, achieved by introducing three genes from *Streptomyces* venezuelae.³⁵⁷ Other instances of NCAAs produced via engineered biosynthetic pathways include 5-hydroxyproline (5-HTP),³⁵⁸ DOPA,^{358–360} and S-allyl-homocysteine, the latter two being particularly noteworthy for bioconjugation applications.³⁶¹

6. DISCUSSION AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

Throughout history humanity has been screening nature for therapeutic agents and has come a long way from the early trial and error, via isolation of active compounds and proteins, to careful biomanufacturing of highly specific, or even personalized, drugs. Biopharmaceuticals, including pharmaceutical proteins, are here to stay. Currently there are more than 7 800 biopharmaceutical products in clinical development globally, of which over 1000 have reached phase III clinical trials.¹⁶ The large pipeline, and additionally regulatory experience accumulated in the past few years, also due to the COVID-19 pandemic, should accelerate the speed of drug development and approval processes for future medicines. In addition, due to expiring patents, additional biosimilar molecules will enter the market at the same time. As such, production platforms, including bioprocessing and DSP, need to be ready for this increased need.

The current successes in the clinic of conjugated peptides and proteins can be ascribed to the successful alliance of biology and synthetic chemistry. One major advance has been to expand beyond the cell and perform both biomanufacturing in cell-free systems and to expand the genetic lexicon.

With the availability of high-quality data, the relationship of biological data sets, machine learning algorithms, and the utilization of language models to train artificial intelligence is under rapid developments for current applications in metabolic engineering and protein design.^{362–368} However, in order to advance modern medicine and unlock the potential even further for biomanufactured therapeutic agents, an additional merger of automation engineering, computational chemistry, quantum computing,³⁶⁹ and additional artificial intelligence tools is needed.

Such a merger would result in the need to design novel *in silico* extrapolative tools and enhanced high-throughput methods. We could argue that such initial approaches have shown great promise for nonconjugated antibody drugs; however, we are still lacking sufficient tools for bioconjugated drugs. The current state-of-the art in 'cell-free protein synthesis' and 'cell-free metabolic engineering small molecule synthesis' presented here

indicates a future merger of the two approaches in order to enable screening the vast amount of all possible combinations of the various modular components to emerge from the advancements in structure—activity studies in the future. Further advances in predictive tools for *in vivo* drug delivery, efficacy, novel drug target discovery, and metabolic clearing models are needed to shave down the enormous landscape of possible drug molecules. In parallel, drug developability has to be improved and re-evaluating risk management through postmarketing surveillance is needed. Despite these hurdles, the role of cellfree systems and NCAAs in shaping the future of drug design, screening, and manufacturing has only just begun.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Authors

- Marco G. Casteleijn VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd, 02150 Espoo, Finland; Email: marco.casteleijn@gmail.com
- Stefan Kubick Freie Universität Berlin, Institute of Chemistry and Biochemistry, 14195 Berlin, Germany; Faculty of Health Sciences, Joint Faculty of the Brandenburg University of Technology Cottbus–Senftenberg, The Brandenburg Medical School Theodor Fontane and the University of Potsdam, 14469 Potsdam, Germany; B4 PharmaTech GmbH, 14195 Berlin, Germany; orcid.org/0000-0002-7238-4117; Email: stefan.kubick@fu-berlin.de

Authors

- **Ulrike Abendroth** VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd, 02150 Espoo, Finland
- Anne Zemella Fraunhofer Institute for Cell Therapy and Immunology (IZI), Branch Bioanalytics and Bioprocesses (IZI-BB), 14476 Potsdam, Germany; orcid.org/0000-0003-4895-5423
- **Ruben Walter** Fraunhofer Institute for Cell Therapy and Immunology (IZI), Branch Bioanalytics and Bioprocesses (IZI-BB), 14476 Potsdam, Germany
- Rashmi Rashmi Freie Universität Berlin, Institute of Chemistry and Biochemistry, 14195 Berlin, Germany Rainer Haag – Freie Universität Berlin, Institute of Chemistry and Biochemistry, 14195 Berlin, Germany

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.4c00126

Author Contributions

Marco G. Casteleijn: conceptualization, funding acquisition, investigation, project administration, writing-original draft, writing-review and editing. Ulrike Abendroth: conceptualization, writing-review and editing. Anne Zemella: conceptualization, writing-review and editing. Ruben Walter: conceptualization, writing-review and editing. Rashmi Rashmi: conceptualization, writing-review and editing. Rashmi Rashmi: conceptualization, writing-review and editing. Rainer Haag: conceptualization, writing-review and editing. Stefan Kubick: conceptualization, investigation, writing-review and editing. CRediT: **Stefan Kubick** conceptualization, investigation, resources, supervision, validation, writing - original draft, writing - review & editing.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Marco G. Casteleijn was a research team leader at VTT at the time of writing. He obtained his Ph.D. in 2010 from the University of Oulu in Bioprocess Engineering and protein engineering. In 2013, he received a Finnish Academy of Finland postdoctoral fellowship at the University of Finland, faculty of Pharmacy, where his research interest toward pharmaceutical protein development and cell-free proteins synthesis developed further. In 2018, he was hired at VTT, first as senior scientist and in 2022 as Research Team Leader. In 2023 he was awarded the title of adjunct professor in Biochemistry at the University of Helsinki.

Ulrike Abendroth is currently working as senior scientist at VTT. She obtained her Ph.D. in 2016 from the Martin-Luther-University Halle-Wittenberg in Biology. Her main topics were the interaction of plant pathogenic bacteria with their host and the post-transcriptional regulation of virulence gene using small noncoding RNAs. From 2018 to 2021, she worked as Postdoc at the University of Helsinki studying the role of tRNA modifications in stress response and the use of tRNA modifications in cell-free protein synthesis. Since joining VTT late 2021, she studies expression systems in filamentous fungi working on different target proteins.

Anne Zemella is currently working as group leader for "Cell-free Protein Synthesis" at the Fraunhofer IZI-BB. She obtained her Ph.D. in 2019 from the University of Potsdam in Biochemistry. Her main topics were the cell-free protein synthesis of pharmacologically relevant proteins including G protein-coupled receptors and their modification via introduction of noncanonical amino acids. From 2019 to 2022, she worked as Postdoc at the Fraunhofer IZI-BB and developed novel assays for the characterization of cell-free synthesized proteins. Since 2022, she has led the Cell-free Protein Synthesis group at Fraunhofer IZI-BB.

Ruben Magnus Walter received his B.Sc. degree in Biotechnology from the Technical University Braunschweig in 2017 and his M.Sc. degree from the Technical University Berlin in 2019. Also in 2019 he joined the Fraunhofer Institute for Cell therapy and Immunology branch Bioanalytics and Bioprocesses in the Department for cell-free and cell-based bioproduction. Starting his Ph.D. in 2020, he here focuses on the site-specific integration of noncanonical amino acids into fungal enzymes using cell-free protein synthesis.

Rashmi Rashmi obtained her Ph.D. in Chemistry from the University of Delhi, India, under the supervision of Prof. Sunil K. Sharma. Her doctoral research was dedicated to the design and synthesis of nonionic amphiphilic architectures aimed at biomedical applications. Following this, she joined the research group of Prof. Rainer Haag as a postdoctoral fellow, where she contributed to the synthesis of alkylated and fluorinated oligoglycerol-based amphiphiles. Her research efforts have primarily focused on elucidating the interactions of hydrophobic chains within amphiphiles in aqueous media, facilitating the formation of complex supramolecular assemblies.

Rainer Haag is Professor of Organic and Macromolecular Chemistry at Freie Universität Berlin. Since 2021, he is spokesperson of the Collaborative Research Center 1449 "Dynamic Hydrogels at Biological Interfaces" and the research facility "SupraFAB". His research focuses on biodegradable and multivalent macromolecules, supramolecular architectures, nanotransporters for drug delivery, and sustainable polymer syntheses. In start-up-oriented teaching, he won the 2014 teaching award at Freie Universität Berlin with his project "Translation of Project Ideas". Together with the company Dendropharm, he received the Innovation Award Berlin-Brandenburg in 2016. Since 2019, he has been an elected member of the German Academy of Science and Engineering (acatech). In 2022, he was awarded the ERC Advanced Grant. His scientific achievements are documented by >650 peer-reviewed publications and 50 patent applications. For more information, see the group homepage: www.polytree.de.

Stefan Kubick is a lecturer at the Freie Universität Berlin. He is also the chairman of the glyconet Berlin Brandenburg and CEO of the company B4 PharmaTech GmbH, a Startup located at the Campus of the Freie Universität Berlin. Previously he was head of the department "Cell-free and Cell-based Bioproduction" at the Fraunhofer Institute for Cell Therapy and Immunology (IZI), Branch Bioanalytics and Bioprocesses Potsdam-Golm (IZI-BB). He gained his Ph.D. in Molecular Biology and Physiology from the University of Stuttgart-Hohenheim, Germany in 1997. During his postdoctoral research in the Institute of Pharmacology at the Free University of Berlin, he was involved in the characterization of cellular and biological functions of G proteinmediated signal transduction processes. Since 2010, he has led a large group at the Fraunhofer Institute. His laboratory exploits cell-free protein synthesis as a versatile tool for functional genomics, e.g., cellfree synthesis of membrane proteins and glycoproteins, as well as chipbased protein synthesis and translational regulation. Dr. Kubick is a coopted member at the Faculty of Health Sciences, Joint Faculty of the Brandenburg University of Technology Cottbus-Senftenberg, The Brandenburg Medical School Theodor Fontane and the University of Potsdam, Germany. He is also an affiliate of the Technical University of Berlin and a Lecturer at the University of Applied Sciences, Berlin, Germany.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

MGC and UA acknowledge financial support by VTT. B4 PharmaTech GmbH is proudly supported by Profund Innovation – Freie Universität Berlin. B4 PharmaTech GmbH is a member of the network DiagnostikNet BB. AZ and RMW were supported by Fraunhofer Internal Program under Grant No. SME 40-06962.

ABBREVIATIONS

aaRS = Aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase ADC = Antibody–drug conjugate BHK = Baby hamster kidney (cells) CFPS = Cell-free protein synthesis CFME = cell-free metabolic engineering CHO = Chinese hamster ovary (cells) CNTF = Ciliary neurotrophic factor CRISPR = Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats DAR = drug antibody ratios DBTL = Design, build, test, and learn DNA = Deoxyribonucleic acid DOPA = L-3,4-Dihydroxyphenylalanine DSP = Downstream processing *E. coli* = *Escherichia coli* EGF = Epidermal growth factor EGFR = Epidermal growth factor receptor EMA = European Medicine Agency EPO = Erythropoietin FDA = Food and Drug Administration GFP = Green fluorescent protein GlcNAc = N-Acetylglucosamine GM-CSF = Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor GRAS = Generally regarded as safe HC = Heavy chain (of an antibody) H. polymorpha = Hansenula polymorpha IFN = Interferon

IRES = Internal ribosome entry site IVT = *In vitro* transcription IVTT = *In vitro* transcription and translation *K. pastoris = Komagetaella pastoris L. tarentolae = Leishmania tarentolae* LC = Light chain (of an antibody)LeuRS = Leucyl-tRNA synthetase mAB = Monoclonal antibody mRNA = mRNAMS = Mass spectroscopy MTGse = Microbial transglutaminase MW = Molecular weight NCAA = Nonconical amino acid NHS = N-Hydroxysuccinimides esters NMR = Nuclear magnetic resonance *P. pastoris* = *Pichia pastoris* PAMF = Para-azidomethyl-L-phenylalanine PAS = As in PASylation: polypeptide chain of Proline, Alanine, and Serine PCR = Polymerase chain reaction PEG = Poly(ethylene glycol) PK/PD = Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics PMSF = Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride POX = Poly(2-oxazoline)PTM = Post translational modification PURE = Protein synthesis using purified recombinant elements PylRS = Pyrrolysine-tRNA synthetase RBD = Receptor-binding domain RF = Release factor RNA = Ribonucleic acid RT = Reverse transcriptase *S. cerevisiae* = *Saccharomyces cerevisiae S. gregaria* = *Shistocera gregaria* (desert locus) SARS = Severe acute respiratory syndrome scFv = Single-chain fragment variable [of an antibody] SDS-PAGE = Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis TEA = Techno-economic assessment tRNA = tRNATrpRS = Tryptophanyl-tRNA synthetase TyrRS = Tyrosyl-tRNA synthetase

UPC = Unit production cost (total annual operation cost/ annual mAb produced)

REFERENCES

(1) Riedel, S. Edward Jenner and the history of smallpox and vaccination. *Proc. (Bayl Univ Med. Cent).* **2005**, *18* (1), 21–25.

(2) Wang, R. C.; Wang, Z. Precision Medicine: Disease Subtyping and Tailored Treatment. *Cancers* **2023**, *15*, 3837.

(3) Wolfe, N. D.; Diamond, J. ORIGINS OF MAJOR HUMAN INFECTIOUS DISEASES. In *Institute of Medicine (US). Improving Food Safety Through a One Health Approach: Workshop Summary;* National Academies Press (US),:Washington (DC), 2012.

(4) Farahat, R. A.; Khan, S. H.; Rabaan, A. A.; Al-Tawfiq, J. A. The resurgence of Avian influenza and human infection: A brief outlook. *New Microbes New Infect.* **2023**, *53*, 101122.

(5) Perehudoff, K. Universal access to essential medicines as part of the right to health: a cross-national comparison of national laws, medicines policies, and health system indicators. *Global Health Action* **2020**, *13* (1), No. 1699342.

(6) Ellis, L. Archaeological Method and Theory: An Encyclopedia; Routledge, 1999. DOI: 10.4324/9780203801567. (7) Hefferon, K. Let Thy Food Be Thy Medicine; Oxford University Press, 2012.

(8) Zhao, Z.; Guo, P.; Brand, E. A concise classification of bencao (materia medica). *Chin Med.* **2018**, *13*, 18.

(9) Khakurel, B.; Shrestha, R.; Joshi, S.; Thomas, D. Chapter 2 -Evolution of the Pharmacy Profession and Public Health. In *Clinical Pharmacy Education, Practice and Research*; Thomas, D., Ed.; Elsevier, 2019; pp 13–30.

(10) Pocuca, M.; Stupar, D. Pharmaceutical forms in Antidotarium Nicolai. *Macedonian pharmaceutical bulletin* **2006**, *52*, 49–56.

(11) Hayes, A. N.; Gilbert, S. G. Historical milestones and discoveries that shaped the toxicology sciences. In *Molecular, Clinical and Environmental Toxicology. Vol. I: Molecular Toxicology*; Luch, A., Ed.; Experientia Supplementum; Birkhäuser Basel, 2009; Vol. I, p 470.

(12) Daemmrich, A.; Bowden, M. E. Top Pharmaceuticals That Changed The World. *Chem. Eng. News* **2005**, *83* (25).

(13) Jones, A. Early drug discovery and the rise of pharmaceutical chemistry. *Drug testing and analysis* **2011**, *3*, 337–344.

(14) FDA. FDA factsheet. Food and Drug Administration, 2018.

(15) ResearchAndMarkets.com. Small Molecule Drug Discovery Market, By Therapeutic Area, By Process/Phase, and By Geography -Size, Share, Outlook, and Opportunity Analysis, 2022 - 2028; Coherent Market Insights Pvt Ltd: Dublin, Ireland, 2022.

(16) Walsh, G.; Walsh, E. Biopharmaceutical benchmarks 2022. Nature biotechnology **2022**, 40 (12), 1722–1760.

(17) Woodcock, J.; Griffin, J.; Behrman, R.; Cherney, B.; Crescenzi, T.; Fraser, B.; Hixon, D.; Joneckis, C.; Kozlowski, S.; Rosenberg, A.; et al. The FDA's assessment of follow-on protein products: a historical perspective. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discovery* **2007**, *6* (6), 437–442.

(18) Leader, B.; Baca, Q. J.; Golan, D. E. Protein therapeutics: A summary and pharmacological classification. **2008**, *7*, 21–39.

(19) von Behring, E. Nobel Lecture: Serum Therapy in Therapeutics and Medical Science; Nobel Foundation, 1901. https://www.nobelprize.org/prizes/medicine/1901/behring/lecture/.

(20) Dimitrov, D. S.; Marks, J. D. Therapeutic Antibodies: Current State and Future Trends – Is a Paradigm Change Coming Soon? In *Therapeutic Antibodies: Methods and Protocols*; Dimitrov, A. S., Ed.; Humana Press, 2009; pp 1–27.

(21) Vecchio, I.; Tornali, C.; Bragazzi, N. L.; Martini, M. The Discovery of Insulin: An Important Milestone in the History of Medicine. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* **2018**, *9*, Review.

(22) Sanger, F. The terminal peptides of insulin. *Biochem. J.* **1949**, 45 (5), 563–574.

(23) Duncan, R.; Ringsdorf, H.; Satchi-Fainaro, R. Polymer therapeutics—polymers as drugs, drug and protein conjugates and gene delivery systems: Past, present and future opportunities. *J. Drug Targeting* **2006**, *14* (6), 337–341.

(24) Tran, P.; Pyo, Y.-C.; Kim, D.-H.; Lee, S.-E.; Kim, J.-K.; Park, J.-S. Overview of the Manufacturing Methods of Solid Dispersion Technology for Improving the Solubility of Poorly Water-Soluble Drugs and Application to Anticancer Drugs. *Pharmaceutics* **2019**, *11*, 132.

(25) Wahlich, J. Review: Continuous Manufacturing of Small Molecule Solid Oral Dosage Forms. *Pharmaceutics* **2021**, *13*, 1311.

(26) Cohen, S. N.; Chang, A. C. Y.; Boyer, H. W.; Helling, R. B. Construction of biologically functional bacterial plasmids in vitro. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **1973**, *70* (11), 4.

(27) Bailey, J. E. Toward a science of metabolic engineering. *Science* **1991**, 252 (5013), 1668–1675.

(28) Lee, S. Y.; Kim, H. U.; Park, J. H.; Park, J. M.; Kim, T. Y. Metabolic engineering of microorganisms: general strategies and drug production. *Drug discovery today* **2009**, *14* (1–2), 78–88.

(29) Villaverde, A. Nanotechnology, bionanotechnology and microbial cell factories. *Microbial cell factories* **2010**, *9* (1), 53.

(30) Khosla, C.; Keasling, J. D. Metabolic engineering for drug discovery and development. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discovery* **2003**, 2 (12), 1019–1025.

(31) Volk, M. J.; Tran, V. G.; Tan, S.-I.; Mishra, S.; Fatma, Z.; Boob, A.; Li, H.; Xue, P.; Martin, T. A.; Zhao, H. Metabolic engineering:

methodologies and applications. Chem. Rev. 2023, 123 (9), 5521-5570.

(32) Paddon, C. J.; Keasling, J. D. Semi-synthetic artemisinin: a model for the use of synthetic biology in pharmaceutical development. *Nature reviews microbiology* **2014**, *12* (5), 355–367.

(33) Ro, D.-K.; Paradise, E. M.; Ouellet, M.; Fisher, K. J.; Newman, K. L.; Ndungu, J. M.; Ho, K. A.; Eachus, R. A.; Ham, T. S.; Kirby, J.; et al. Production of the antimalarial drug precursor artemisinic acid in engineered yeast. *Nature* **2006**, *440* (7086), 940–943.

(34) Galanie, S.; Thodey, K.; Trenchard, I. J.; Filsinger Interrante, M.; Smolke, C. D. Complete biosynthesis of opioids in yeast. *Science* **2015**, 349 (6252), 1095–1100.

(35) Spencer, G. W.; Li, X.; Jarrold, A.; Gras, S. L. An industrially applicable Escherichia coli platform for bioconversion of thebaine to oripavine and codeine to morphine. *Chem. Commun.* **2023**, *59* (41), 6251–6254.

(36) Sun, W.; Lee, J.; Zhang, S.; Benyshek, C.; Dokmeci, M. R.; Khademhosseini, A. Engineering Precision Medicine. *Advanced Science* **2019**, *6* (1), No. 1801039.

(37) Statista. Revenue of the worldwide pharmaceutical market from 2001 to 2022, 2023. https://www.statista.com/statistics/263102/pharmaceutical-market-worldwide-revenue-since-2001/.

(38) Buntz, B. 50 of 2021's best-selling pharmaceuticals, 2022. https://www.drugdiscoverytrends.com/50-of-2021s-best-selling-pharmaceuticals/.

(39) Murray, J. E.; Laurieri, N.; Delgoda, R. Chapter 24 - Proteins. In *Pharmacognosy*; Badal, S., Delgoda, R., Eds.; Academic Press, 2017; pp 477–494.

(40) Cooper, G. M. Sunderland (MA): Sinauer Associates. Cell: A Molecular Approach, 2000.

(41) Finlay, J. L.; Anderson, J. R.; Cecalupo, A. J.; Hutchinson, R. J.; Kadin, M. E.; Kjeldsberg, C. R.; Provisor, A. J.; Woods, W. G.; Meadows, A. T. Disseminated nonlymphoblastic lymphoma of childhood: a Childrens Cancer Group study, CCG-552. *Medical and pediatric oncology* **1994**, 23 (6), 453–463.

(42) Hamuro, L. L.; Kishnani, N. S. Metabolism of biologics: biotherapeutic proteins. *Bioanalysis* **2012**, *4* (2), 189–195.

(43) Lagassé, H.; Alexaki, A.; Simhadri, V.; Katagiri, N.; Jankowski, W.; Sauna, Z.; Kimchi-Sarfaty, C. Recent advances in (therapeutic protein) drug development. *F1000Research* **2017**, *6* (113), 113.

(44) Chen, Z.; Wang, X.; Chen, X.; Huang, J.; Wang, C.; Wang, J.; Wang, Z. Accelerating therapeutic protein design with computational approaches toward the clinical stage. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal* **2023**, *21*, 2909–2926.

(45) Adami, G.; Saag, K. G.; Chapurlat, R. D.; Guañabens, N.; Haugeberg, G.; Lems, W. F.; Matijevic, R.; Peel, N.; Poddubnyy, D.; Geusens, P. Balancing benefits and risks in the era of biologics. *Therapeutic Advances in Musculoskeletal Disease* **2019**, *11*, 1759720X19883973 DOI: 10.1177/1759720X19883973.

(46) Casteleijn, M. G. *Towards new enzymes: protein engineering versus bioinformatic studies*; Monograph, University of Oulu, 2009.

(47) Reetz, M. T.; Kahakeaw, D.; Sanchis, J. Shedding light on the efficacy of laboratory evolution based on iterative saturation mutagenesis. *Molecular bioSystems* **2009**, *5* (2), 115–122.

(48) Richardson, D.; Itkonen, J.; Nievas, J.; Urtti, A.; Casteleijn, M. G. Accelerated pharmaceutical protein development with integrated cell free expression, purification, and bioconjugation. *Sci. Rep.* **2018**, DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-30435-4.

(49) Aranko, A. S.; Iwaï, H. The Inducible Intein-Mediated Self-Cleaving Tag (IIST) System: A Novel Purification and Amidation System for Peptides and Proteins. *Molecules* **2021**, *26* (19), 5948.

(50) Lampinen, V.; Gröhn, S.; Soppela, S.; Blazevic, V.; Hytönen, V. P.; Hankaniemi, M. M. SpyTag/SpyCatcher display of influenza M2e peptide on norovirus-like particle provides stronger immunization than direct genetic fusion. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* **2023**, *13*, 1 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2023.1216364.

(51) Luzik, D. A.; Rogacheva, O. N.; Izmailov, S. A.; Indeykina, M. I.; Kononikhin, A. S.; Skrynnikov, N. R. Molecular Dynamics model of peptide-protein conjugation: case study of covalent complex between Sos1 peptide and N-terminal SH3 domain from Grb2. *Sci. Rep.* **2019**, 9 (1), 20219.

(52) Kaupbayeva, B.; Boye, S.; Munasinghe, A.; Murata, H.; Matyjaszewski, K.; Lederer, A.; Colina, C. M.; Russell, A. J. Molecular Dynamics-Guided Design of a Functional Protein–ATRP Conjugate That Eliminates Protein–Protein Interactions. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2021**, 32 (4), 821–832.

(53) Varadi, M.; Anyango, S.; Deshpande, M.; Nair, S.; Natassia, C.; Yordanova, G.; Yuan, D.; Stroe, O.; Wood, G.; Laydon, A.; et al. AlphaFold Protein Structure Database: massively expanding the structural coverage of protein-sequence space with high-accuracy models. *Nucleic acids research* **2022**, *50* (D1), D439–D444.

(54) Abramson, J.; Adler, J.; Dunger, J.; Evans, R.; Green, T.; Pritzel, A.; Ronneberger, O.; Willmore, L.; Ballard, A. J.; Bambrick, J.; et al. Accurate structure prediction of biomolecular interactions with AlphaFold 3. *Nature* **2024**, *630*, 493.

(55) Baek, M.; DiMaio, F.; Anishchenko, I.; Dauparas, J.; Ovchinnikov, S.; Lee, G. R.; Wang, J.; Cong, Q.; Kinch, L. N.; Schaeffer, R. D.; et al. Accurate prediction of protein structures and interactions using a three-track neural network. *Science* **2021**, 373 (6557), 871–876.

(56) Messina, M. S.; Messina, K. M. M.; Bhattacharya, A.; Montgomery, H. R.; Maynard, H. D. Preparation of biomoleculepolymer conjugates by grafting-from using ATRP, RAFT, or ROMP. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* 2020, *100*, No. 101186.

(57) Bojar, D.; Fussenegger, M. The Role of Protein Engineering in Biomedical Applications of Mammalian Synthetic Biology. *Small* **2020**, *16* (27), No. 1903093.

(58) Bornscheuer, U. T.; Höhne, M. Protein Engineering; Humana: New York, 2018. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7366-8.

(59) Gebauer, M.; Skerra, A. Engineered Protein Scaffolds as Next-Generation Therapeutics. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology* **2020**, *60*, 391–415.

(60) Hermanson, G. T. *Bioconjugate techniques*; Academic Press, 2013. (61) Stephanopoulos, N.; Francis, M. B. Choosing an effective protein bioconjugation strategy. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2011**, 7 (12), 876–884.

(62) Pouyan, P.; Zemella, A.; Schloßhauer, J. L.; Walter, R. M.; Haag, R.; Kubick, S. One to one comparison of cell-free synthesized erythropoietin conjugates modified with linear polyglycerol and polyethylene glycol. *Sci. Rep.* **2023**, *13* (1), 6394–6394.

(63) Li, F.; Mahato, R. I. Bioconjugate Therapeutics: Current Progress and Future Perspective. *Mol. Pharmaceutics* **2017**, *14* (5), 1321–1324.

(64) Spicer, C. D.; Davis, B. G. Selective chemical protein modification. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, 5 (1), 4740.

(65) Fernandes, C. S. M.; Teixeira, G. D. G.; Iranzo, O.; Roque, A. C. A. Chapter 5 - Engineered Protein Variants for Bioconjugation. In *Biomedical Applications of Functionalized Nanomaterials*; Sarmento, B., das Neves, J., Eds.; Elsevier, 2018; pp 105–138.

(66) Riccardi, F.; Dal Bo, M.; Macor, P.; Toffoli, G. A comprehensive overview on antibody-drug conjugates: from the conceptualization to cancer therapy. *Front Pharmacol* **2023**, *14*, 1274088–1274088.

(67) Bhakta, S.; Raab, H.; Junutula, J. R. Engineering THIOMABs for Site-Specific Conjugation of Thiol-Reactive Linkers. In *Methods Mol. Biol.*; Humana Press, 2013; pp 189–203.

(68) Pergolizzi, G.; Dedola, S.; Field, R. A. Contemporary glycoconjugation chemistry. In *Carbohydrate Chemistry*; Royal Society of Chemistry, pp 1–46.

(69) Falck, G.; Müller, K. M. Enzyme-Based Labeling Strategies for Antibody-Drug Conjugates and Antibody Mimetics. *Antibodies (Basel)* **2018**, 7 (1), 4.

(70) Hamann, P. R.; Hinman, L. M.; Hollander, I.; Beyer, C. F.; Lindh, D.; Holcomb, R.; Hallett, W.; Tsou, H.-R.; Upeslacis, J.; Shochat, D.; et al. Gemtuzumab Ozogamicin, A Potent and Selective Anti-CD33 Antibody–Calicheamicin Conjugate for Treatment of Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2002**, *13* (1), 47–58.

(71) Francisco, J. A.; Cerveny, C. G.; Meyer, D. L.; Mixan, B. J.; Klussman, K.; Chace, D. F.; Rejniak, S. X.; Gordon, K. A.; DeBlanc, R.; Toki, B. E.; et al. cAC10-vcMMAE, an anti-CD30-monomethyl auristatin E conjugate with potent and selective antitumor activity. *Blood* **2003**, *102* (4), 1458–1465.

(72) Lewis Phillips, G. D.; Li, G.; Dugger, D. L.; Crocker, L. M.; Parsons, K. L.; Mai, E.; Blättler, W. A.; Lambert, J. M.; Chari, R. V. J.; Lutz, R. J.; et al. Targeting HER2-Positive Breast Cancer with Trastuzumab-DM1, an Antibody–Cytotoxic Drug Conjugate. *Cancer research* **2008**, *68* (22), 9280–9290.

(73) Arvedson, T.; O'Kelly, J.; Yang, B.-B. Design Rationale and Development Approach for Pegfilgrastim as a Long-Acting Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor. *BioDrugs* **2015**, *29* (3), 185–198.

(74) Heo, Y.-A.; Syed, Y. Y.; Keam, S. J. Pegaspargase: A Review in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia. *Drugs* **2019**, *79* (7), 767–777.

(75) Engineered yeast biological system for efficiently detecting sweetness strength and application thereof. Patent CN107513505A, 2017.

(76) Dorsey, M. J.; Rubinstein, A.; Lehman, H.; Fausnight, T.; Wiley, J. M.; Haddad, E. PEGylated Recombinant Adenosine Deaminase Maintains Detoxification and Lymphocyte Counts in Patients with ADA-SCID. *Journal of clinical immunology* **2023**, *43* (5), 951–964.

(77) Bourbon, E.; Salles, G. Polatuzumab vedotin: an investigational anti-CD79b antibody drug conjugate for the treatment of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs* **2020**, *29* (10), 1079–1088.

(78) Nair, J. K.; Willoughby, J. L. S.; Chan, A.; Charisse, K.; Alam, M. R.; Wang, Q.; Hoekstra, M.; Kandasamy, P.; Kel'in, A. V.; Milstein, S.; et al. Multivalent N-Acetylgalactosamine-Conjugated siRNA Localizes in Hepatocytes and Elicits Robust RNAi-Mediated Gene Silencing. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (49), 16958–16961.

(79) Lin, H.-H.; Hsu, S.-J.; Lu, S.-N.; Chuang, W.-L.; Hsu, C.-W.; Chien, R.-N.; Yang, S.-S.; Su, W.-W.; Wu, J.-C.; Lee, T.-H.; et al. Ropeginterferon alfa-2b in patients with genotype 1 chronic hepatitis C: Pharmacokinetics, safety, and preliminary efficacy. *JGH Open* **2021**, 5 (8), 929–940.

(80) Challita-Eid, P. M.; Satpayev, D.; Yang, P.; An, Z.; Morrison, K.; Shostak, Y.; Raitano, A.; Nadell, R.; Liu, W.; Lortie, D. R.; et al. Enfortumab Vedotin Antibody–Drug Conjugate Targeting Nectin-4 Is a Highly Potent Therapeutic Agent in Multiple Preclinical Cancer Models. *Cancer research* **2016**, *76* (10), 3003–3013.

(81) Yamazaki, C. M.; Yamaguchi, A.; Anami, Y.; Xiong, W.; Otani, Y.; Lee, J.; Ueno, N. T.; Zhang, N.; An, Z.; Tsuchikama, K. Antibody-drug conjugates with dual payloads for combating breast tumor heterogeneity and drug resistance. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12* (1), 3528.

(82) Moon, S.-J.; Govindan, S. V.; Cardillo, T. M.; D'Souza, C. A.; Hansen, H. J.; Goldenberg, D. M. Antibody Conjugates of 7-Ethyl-10hydroxycamptothecin (SN-38) for Targeted Cancer Chemotherapy. *Journal of medicinal chemistry* **2008**, *51* (21), 6916–6926.

(83) Tai, Y.-T.; Mayes, P. A.; Acharya, C.; Zhong, M. Y.; Cea, M.; Cagnetta, A.; Craigen, J.; Yates, J.; Gliddon, L.; Fieles, W.; et al. Novel anti-B-cell maturation antigen antibody-drug conjugate (GSK2857916) selectively induces killing of multiple myeloma. *Blood* **2014**, *123* (20), 3128–3138.

(84) Doronina, S. O.; Toki, B. E.; Torgov, M. Y.; Mendelsohn, B. A.; Cerveny, C. G.; Chace, D. F.; DeBlanc, R. L.; Gearing, R. P.; Bovee, T. D.; Siegall, C. B.; et al. Development of potent monoclonal antibody auristatin conjugates for cancer therapy. *Nature biotechnology* **2003**, *21* (7), 778–784.

(85) Dubowchik, G. M.; Firestone, R. A.; Padilla, L.; Willner, D.; Hofstead, S. J.; Mosure, K.; Knipe, J. O.; Lasch, S. J.; Trail, P. A. Cathepsin B-Labile Dipeptide Linkers for Lysosomal Release of Doxorubicin from Internalizing Immunoconjugates: Model Studies of Enzymatic Drug Release and Antigen-Specific In Vitro Anticancer Activity. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2002**, *13* (4), 855–869.

(86) Zhu, Y.; Li, X.; Kyazike, J.; Zhou, Q.; Thurberg, B. L.; Raben, N.; Mattaliano, R. J.; Cheng, S. H. Conjugation of Mannose 6-Phosphatecontaining Oligosaccharides to Acid α-Glucosidase Improves the Clearance of Glycogen in Pompe Mice *. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2004**, 279 (48), 50336–50341.

(87) Hunt, I. From gene to protein: a review of new and enabling technologies for multi-parallel protein expression. *Protein Expression Purif.* **2005**, 40 (1), 1-22.

(88) Schmidt, F. R. From Gene to Product: The Advantage of Integrative Biotechnology; Wiley, 2006; pp 1–52.

pubs.acs.org/CR

(89) Rader, R. A. FDA biopharmaceutical product approvals and trends in 2012. *BioProcess Int.* **2013**, *11* (3), 18–27.

(90) Demain, A. L.; Vaishnav, P. Production of recombinant proteins by microbes and higher organisms. *Biotechnology advances* **2009**, 27 (3), 297–306.

(91) Jayaraj, R.; Smooker, P. M. So you Need a Protein - A Guide to the Production of Recombinant Proteins. *Open Veterinary Science Journal* **2009**, *3* (1), 28–34.

(92) Liu, Z.; Liang, Y.; Ang, E. L.; Zhao, H. A New Era of Genome Integration—Simply Cut and Paste! *ACS Synth. Biol.* **2017**, *6* (4), 601–609.

(93) Casteleijn, M. G.; Urtti, A.; Sarkhel, S. Expression without boundaries: Cell-free protein synthesis in pharmaceutical research. *International journal of pharmaceutics* **2013**, *440*, 39.

(94) Tan, Y.; Wu, H.; Wei, T.; Li, X. Chemical Protein Synthesis: Advances, Challenges, and Outlooks. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2020**, 142 (48), 20288–20298.

(95) Walsh, G. Biopharmaceutical benchmarks. *Nature Biotechnology* **2000**, *18*, 831.

(96) Walsh, G. Biopharmaceutical benchmarks 2010. Nature biotechnology **2010**, 28 (9), 917–924.

(97) Walsh, G. Biopharmaceutical benchmarks—2003. *Nature biotechnology* **2003**, *21*, 865.

(98) Walsh, G. Biopharmaceutical benchmarks 2006. *Nature biotechnology* **2006**, *24*, 769.

(99) Walsh, G. Biopharmaceutical benchmarks 2014. *Nature biotechnology* **2014**, *32*, 992.

(100) Casteleijn, M. G.; Richardson, D. Engineering Cells and Proteins – creating pharmaceuticals. *Eur. Pharm. Rev.* **2014**, *19* (4), 12–19.

(101) Theisen, M.; Liao, J. C. Industrial Biotechnology: Escherichia coli as a Host. *In Industrial Biotechnology* **2017**, 149–181.

(102) Chou, C. P. Engineering cell physiology to enhance recombinant protein production in Escherichia coli. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology* **2007**, *76* (3), 521–532.

(103) Casali, N. Escherichia coli Host Strains. In *E. coli Plasmid Vectors*; Humana Press, pp 27–48.

(104) Samuelson, J. C. Recent Developments in Difficult Protein Expression: A Guide to E. coli Strains, Promoters, and Relevant Host Mutations. In *Methods Mol. Biol.*; Humana Press, 2010; pp 195–209.

(105) Baneyx, F. Recombinant protein expression in Escherichia coli. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **1999**, *10* (5), 411–421.

(106) McElwain, L.; Phair, K.; Kealey, C.; Brady, D. Current trends in biopharmaceuticals production in Escherichia coli. *Biotechnology letters* **2022**, *44* (8), 917–931.

(107) Enfors, S. O.; Häggström, L. Bioprocess Technology Fundamentals and Applications; Högskoletryckeriet, Royal Insitute of Technology (KTH), 2000.

(108) Consortium, S. G.; Gräslund, S.; Nordlund, P.; Weigelt, J.; Hallberg, B. M.; Bray, J.; Gileadi, O.; Knapp, S.; Oppermann, U.; Arrowsmith, C.; et al. Protein production and purification. *Nat. Methods* **2008**, *5* (2), 135–146.

(109) Peti, W.; Page, R. Strategies to maximize heterologous protein expression in Escherichia coli with minimal cost. *Protein Expression Purif.* **2007**, *51* (1), 1–10.

(110) Petsch, D. Endotoxin removal from protein solutions. *Journal of biotechnology* **2000**, *76* (2–3), 97–119.

(111) Madhavan, A.; Arun, K. B.; Sindhu, R.; Krishnamoorthy, J.; Reshmy, R.; Sirohi, R.; Pugazhendi, A.; Awasthi, M. K.; Szakacs, G.; Binod, P. Customized yeast cell factories for biopharmaceuticals: from cell engineering to process scale up. *Microbial cell factories* **2021**, *20* (1), 124.

(112) Kulagina, N.; Besseau, S.; Godon, C.; Goldman, G. H.; Papon, N.; Courdavault, V. Yeasts as Biopharmaceutical Production Platforms. *Frontiers in Fungal Biology* **2021**, *2*, Opinion.

(113) Parsaie Nasab, F.; Aebi, M.; Bernhard, G.; Frey, A. D. A combined system for engineering glycosylation efficiency and glycan

structure in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Applied and environmental microbiology **2013**, 79 (3), 997–1007.

(114) Potvin, G.; Ahmad, A.; Zhang, Z. Bioprocess engineering aspects of heterologous protein production in Pichia pastoris: A review. *Biochemical Engineering Journal* **2012**, *64*, 91–105.

(115) Barone, G. D.; Emmerstorfer-Augustin, A.; Biundo, A.; Pisano, I.; Coccetti, P.; Mapelli, V.; Camattari, A. Industrial Production of Proteins with Pichia pastoris—Komagataella phaffii. *Biomolecules* **2023**, *13* (3), 441.

(116) Vogl, T.; Hartner, F. S.; Glieder, A. New opportunities by synthetic biology for biopharmaceutical production in Pichia pastoris. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2013**, *24* (6), 1094–1101.

(117) Georgiou, G.; Segatori, L. Preparative expression of secreted proteins in bacteria: status report and future prospects. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2005**, *16* (5), 538–545.

(118) Rantasalo, A.; Landowski, C. P.; Kuivanen, J.; Korppoo, A.; Reuter, L.; Koivistoinen, O.; Valkonen, M.; Penttilä, M.; Jäntti, J.; Mojzita, D. A universal gene expression system for fungi. *Nucleic acids research* **2018**, *46* (18), e111–e111.

(119) Cereghino, J. L.; Cregg, J. M. Heterologous protein expression in the methylotrophic yeast Pichia pastoris. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* **2000**, 24 (1), 45–66.

(120) Cereghino, G. P. L.; Cereghino, J. L.; Ilgen, C.; Cregg, J. M. Production of recombinant proteins in fermenter cultures of the yeast Pichia pastoris. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2002**, *13* (4), 329–332.

(121) Razaghi, A.; Tan, E.; Lua, L. H. L.; Owens, L.; Karthikeyan, O. P.; Heimann, K. Is Pichia pastoris a realistic platform for industrial production of recombinant human interferon gamma? *Biologicals* **2017**, *45*, 52–60.

(122) Dale, C.; Allen, A.; Fogerty, S. Pichia pastoris: a eukaryotic system for the large-scale production of biopharmaceuticals. *Biopharm* **1999**, *12* (11), 36–47.

(123) Choi, B.-K.; Bobrowicz, P.; Davidson, R. C.; Hamilton, S. R.; Kung, D. H.; Li, H.; Miele, R. G.; Nett, J. H.; Wildt, S.; Gerngross, T. U. Use of combinatorial genetic libraries to humanize N-linked glycosylation in the yeast Pichia pastoris. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2003**, *100* (9), 5022–5027.

(124) Hamilton, S. R.; Bobrowicz, P.; Bobrowicz, B.; Davidson, R. C.; Li, H.; Mitchell, T.; Nett, J. H.; Rausch, S.; Stadheim, T. A.; Wischnewski, H.; et al. Production of Complex Human Glycoproteins in Yeast. *Science* **2003**, *301* (5637), 1244–1246.

(125) Piirainen, M. A.; Frey, A. D. The Impact of Glycoengineering on the Endoplasmic Reticulum Quality Control System in Yeasts. *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences* **2022**, *9*, 1 DOI: 10.3389/fmolb.2022.910709.

(126) Kunze, G.; Kang, H. A.; Gellissen, G. Hansenula polymorpha (Pichia angusta): Biology and Applications. In *Yeast Biotechnology: Diversity and Applications*; Springer Netherlands, 2009; pp 47–64.

(127) Manfrão-Netto, J. H. C.; Gomes, A. M. V.; Parachin, N. S. Advances in Using Hansenula polymorpha as Chassis for Recombinant Protein Production. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology* **2019**, *7*, Review.

(128) Toinon, A.; Fontaine, C.; Thion, L.; Gajewska, B.; Carpick, B.; Nougarede, N.; Uhlrich, S. Host cell protein testing strategy for hepatitis B antigen in Hexavalent vaccine – Towards a general testing strategy for recombinant vaccines. *Biologicals* **2018**, *54*, 1–7.

(129) Wurm, F. M. Production of recombinant protein therapeutics in cultivated mammalian cells. *Nature biotechnology* **2004**, *22* (11), 1393–1398.

(130) Ghaderi, D.; Zhang, M.; Hurtado-Ziola, N.; Varki, A. Production platforms for biotherapeutic glycoproteins. Occurrence, impact, and challenges of non-human sialylation. *Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering Reviews* **2012**, 28 (1), 147–176.

(131) Croset, A.; Delafosse, L.; Gaudry, J.-P.; Arod, C.; Glez, L.; Losberger, C.; Begue, D.; Krstanovic, A.; Robert, F.; Vilbois, F.; et al. Differences in the glycosylation of recombinant proteins expressed in HEK and CHO cells. *Journal of biotechnology* **2012**, *161* (3), 336–348.

(132) Llop, E.; Gutiérrez-Gallego, R.; Segura, J.; Mallorquí, J.; Pascual, J. A. Structural analysis of the glycosylation of gene-activated

erythropoietin (epoetin delta, Dynepo). *Analytical biochemistry* **2008**, 383 (2), 243–254.

(133) Donini, R.; Haslam, S. M.; Kontoravdi, C. Glycoengineering Chinese hamster ovary cells: a short history. *Biochemical Society transactions* **2021**, 49 (2), 915–931.

(134) Lai, T.; Yang, Y.; Ng, S. K. Advances in Mammalian cell line development technologies for recombinant protein production. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel, Switzerland)* **2013**, *6* (5), 579–603.

(135) Wang, Q.; Yin, B.; Chung, C.-Y.; Betenbaugh, M. J. Glycoengineering of CHO Cells to Improve Product Quality. In *Heterologous Protein Production in CHO Cells: Methods and Protocols*; Meleady, P., Ed.; Springer: New York, 2017; pp 25–44.

(136) De Jesus, M. J.; Wurm, F. M. Mammalian Cells in Biotech Production. In *Pharmaceutical Biotechnology*; Wiley, 2012; pp 43–57.

(137) Stuible, M.; van Lier, F.; Croughan, M. S.; Durocher, Y. Beyond preclinical research: production of CHO-derived biotherapeutics for toxicology and early-phase trials by transient gene expression or stable pools. *Current Opinion in Chemical Engineering* **2018**, *22*, 145–151.

(138) Geigert, J. Upstream Production of the Biopharmaceutical Drug Substance. In *The Challenge of CMC Regulatory Compliance for Biopharmaceuticals*; Springer, 2023; pp 231–270.

(139) Ausländer, S.; Fussenegger, M. From gene switches to mammalian designer cells: present and future prospects. *Trends Biotechnol.* 2013, 31 (3), 155–168.

(140) Tihanyi, B.; Nyitray, L. Recent advances in CHO cell line development for recombinant protein production. *Drug Discovery Today: Technologies* **2020**, *38*, 25–34.

(141) Jorgensen, M. L.; Friis, N. A.; Just, J.; Madsen, P.; Petersen, S. V.; Kristensen, P. Expression of single-chain variable fragments fused with the Fc-region of rabbit IgG in Leishmania tarentolae. *Microbial cell factories* **2014**, *13*, 9–9.

(142) Taromchi, A. H.; Kazemi, B.; Mahmazi, S.; Bandehpour, M. Heterologous Expression of Human IL-29 (IFN- λ 1) in Iranian Lizard Leishmania. *Iranian Journal of Biotechnology* **2013**, *11* (3), 168–174.

(143) Bandi, C.; Mendoza-Roldan, J. A.; Otranto, D.; Alvaro, A.; Louzada-Flores, V. N.; Pajoro, M.; Varotto-Boccazzi, I.; Brilli, M.; Manenti, A.; Montomoli, E.; et al. Leishmania tarentolae: a vaccine platform to target dendritic cells and a surrogate pathogen for next generation vaccine research in leishmaniases and viral infections. *Parasites & Vectors* 2023, *16* (1), 35.

(144) Rawson, P. W. Dyadic Provides Phase 1 Clinical Trial Update for its Recombinant Protein RBD Vaccine Candidate (Press Release). https:// dyadic.com/dyadic-provides-phase-1-clinical-trial-update-for-itsrecombinant-protein-rbd-vaccine-candidate/, 2023.

(145) Buntru, M.; Vogel, S.; Spiegel, H.; Schillberg, S. Tobacco BY-2 cell-free lysate: an alternative and highly-productive plant-based in vitro translation system. *BMC Biotechnol* **2014**, *14*, 37–37.

(146) Das Gupta, M.; Flaskamp, Y.; Roentgen, R.; Juergens, H.; Gimenez, J. A.; Albrecht, F.; Hemmerich, J.; Ahmad Arfi, Z.; Neuser, J.; Spiegel, H.; et al. ALiCE ([®]): A versatile, high yielding and scalable eukaryotic cell-free protein synthesis (CFPS) system. *bioRxiv* 2022, DOI: 10.1101/2022.11.10.515920.

(147) Nirenberg, M. W.; Matthaei, J. H. The dependence of cell-free protein synthesis in E. coli upon naturally occurring or synthetic polyribonucleotides. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **1961**, *47*, 1588–1602. (148) Zemella, A.; Thoring, L.; Hoffmeister, C.; Kubick, S. Cell-Free Protein Synthesis: Pros and Cons of Prokaryotic and Eukaryotic

Systems. *Chembiochem: a European journal of chemical biology* **2015**, *16* (17), 2420–2431.

(149) Carlson, E. D.; Gan, R.; Hodgman, C. E.; Jewett, M. C. Cell-free protein synthesis: Applications come of age. *Biotechnology advances* **2012**, *30*, 1185.

(150) Zubay, G. In vitro synthesis of protein in microbial systems. *Annual review of genetics* **1973**, *7*, 267–287.

(151) Kubick, S.; Schacherl, J.; Fleischer-Notter, H.; Royall, E.; Roberts, L. O.; Stiege, W. In Vitro Translation in an Insect-Based Cell-Free System. In *Cell-Free Protein Expression*; Swartz, J. R., Ed.; Springer: Berlin Heidelberg, 2003; pp 209–217. (152) Caschera, F.; Noireaux, V. Synthesis of 2.3 mg/mL of protein with an all Escherichia coli cell-free transcription-translation system. *Biochimie* **2014**, *99*, 162–168.

(153) Garenne, D.; Thompson, S.; Brisson, A.; Khakimzhan, A.; Noireaux, V. The all-E. coliTXTL toolbox 3.0: new capabilities of a cell-free synthetic biology platform. *Synth Biol.* (*Oxf*) **2021**, *6* (1), ysab017–ysab017.

(154) Meng, Y.; Yang, M.; Liu, W.; Li, J. Cell-Free Expression of a Therapeutic Protein Serratiopeptidase. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)* **2023**, 28 (7), 3132.

(155) Jin, X.; Kightlinger, W.; Hong, S. H. Optimizing Cell-Free Protein Synthesis for Increased Yield and Activity of Colicins. *Methods Protoc* **2019**, *2* (2), 28.

(156) Zawada, J. F.; Yin, G.; Steiner, A. R.; Yang, J.; Naresh, A.; Roy, S. M.; Gold, D. S.; Heinsohn, H. G.; Murray, C. J. Microscale to manufacturing scale-up of cell-free cytokine production-a new approach for shortening protein production development timelines. *Biotechnology and bioengineering* **2011**, *108* (7), 1570–1578.

(157) Warfel, K. F.; Williams, A.; Wong, D. A.; Sobol, S. E.; Desai, P.; Li, J.; Chang, Y.-F.; DeLisa, M. P.; Karim, A. S.; Jewett, M. C. *A low-cost, thermostable, cell-free protein synthesis platform for on demand production of conjugate vaccines;* Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 2022.

(158) Hunt, A. C.; Vögeli, B.; Hassan, A. O.; Guerrero, L.; Kightlinger, W.; Yoesep, D. J.; Krüger, A.; DeWinter, M.; Diamond, M. S.; Karim, A. S.; Jewett, M. C. A rapid cell-free expression and screening platform for antibody discovery. *Nat. Commun.* **2023**, *14* (1), 3897–3897.

(159) Dopp, J. L.; Reuel, N. F. Simple, functional, inexpensive cell extract for in vitro prototyping of proteins with disulfide bonds. *Biochemical Engineering Journal* **2020**, *164*, No. 107790.

(160) Jaroentomeechai, T.; Taw, M. N.; Li, M.; Aquino, A.; Agashe, N.; Chung, S.; Jewett, M. C.; DeLisa, M. P. Cell-Free Synthetic Glycobiology: Designing and Engineering Glycomolecules Outside of Living Cells. *Front Chem.* **2020**, *8*, 645–645.

(161) Jaroentomeechai, T.; Kwon, Y. H.; Liu, Y.; Young, O.; Bhawal, R.; Wilson, J. D.; Li, M.; Chapla, D. G.; Moremen, K. W.; Jewett, M. C.; et al. A universal glycoenzyme biosynthesis pipeline that enables efficient cell-free remodeling of glycans. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13* (1), 6325–6325.

(162) Hershewe, J. M.; Warfel, K. F.; Iyer, S. M.; Peruzzi, J. A.; Sullivan, C. J.; Roth, E. W.; DeLisa, M. P.; Kamat, N. P.; Jewett, M. C. Improving cell-free glycoprotein synthesis by characterizing and enriching native membrane vesicles. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12* (1), 2363–2363.

(163) Hodgman, C. E.; Jewett, M. C. Optimized extract preparation methods and reaction conditions for improved yeast cell-free protein synthesis. *Biotechnology and bioengineering* **2013**, *110* (10), 2643–2654. (164) Schoborg, J. A.; Hodgman, C. E.; Anderson, M. J.; Jewett, M. C. Substrate replenishment and byproduct removal improve yeast cell-free protein synthesis. *Biotechnology journal* **2014**, *9* (5), 630–640.

(165) Anderson, M. J.; Stark, J. C.; Hodgman, C. E.; Jewett, M. C. Energizing eukaryotic cell-free protein synthesis with glucose metabolism. *FEBS letters* **2015**, 589 (15), 1723–1727.

(166) Hodgman, C. E.; Jewett, M. C. Characterizing IGR IRESmediated translation initiation for use in yeast cell-free protein synthesis. *New Biotechnology* **2014**, *31* (5), 499–505.

(167) Brödel, A. K.; Sonnabend, A.; Roberts, L. O.; Stech, M.; Wüstenhagen, D. A.; Kubick, S. IRES-Mediated Translation of Membrane Proteins and Glycoproteins in Eukaryotic Cell-Free Systems. *PloS one* **2013**, *8* (12), No. e82234.

(168) Gan, R.; Jewett, M. C. Evolution of translation initiation sequences using in vitro yeast ribosome display. *Biotechnology and bioengineering* **2016**, *113* (8), 1777–1786.

(169) Schoborg, J. A.; Clark, L. G.; Choudhury, A.; Hodgman, C. E.; Jewett, M. C. Yeast knockout library allows for efficient testing of genomic mutations for cell-free protein synthesis. *Synthetic and systems biotechnology* **2016**, *1* (1), 2–6.

(170) Aw, R.; Polizzi, K. M. Biosensor-assisted engineering of a highyield Pichia pastoris cell-free protein synthesis platform. *Biotechnology and bioengineering* **2019**, *116* (3), 656–666. (171) Spice, A. J.; Aw, R.; Polizzi, K. M. Cell-Free Protein Synthesis Using Pichia pastoris. In *Cell-Free Gene Expression*; Springer US, 2022; pp 75–88.

(172) Rasor, B. J.; Yi, X.; Brown, H.; Alper, H. S.; Jewett, M. C. An integrated in vivo/in vitro framework to enhance cell-free biosynthesis with metabolically rewired yeast extracts. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12* (1), 5139–5139.

(173) Kobayashi, S.; Kaji, A.; Kaji, H. A novel function for eukaryotic elongation factor 3: Inhibition of stop codon readthrough in yeast. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **2023**, 740, No. 109580.

(174) Tran, K.; Gurramkonda, C.; Cooper, M. A.; Pilli, M.; Taris, J. E.; Selock, N.; Han, T. C.; Tolosa, M.; Zuber, A.; Peñalber-Johnstone, C.; et al. Cell-free production of a therapeutic protein: Expression, purification, and characterization of recombinant streptokinase using a CHO lysate. *Biotechnology and bioengineering* **2018**, *115* (1), 92–102.

(175) Thoring, L.; Dondapati, S. K.; Stech, M.; Wüstenhagen, D. A.; Kubick, S. High-yield production of "difficult-to-express" proteins in a continuous exchange cell-free system based on CHO cell lysates. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, 7(1), 11710–11710.

(176) Gurramkonda, C.; Rao, A.; Borhani, S.; Pilli, M.; Deldari, S.; Ge, X.; Pezeshk, N.; Han, T. C.; Tolosa, M.; Kostov, Y.; et al. Improving the recombinant human erythropoietin glycosylation using microsome supplementation in CHO cell-free system. *Biotechnology and bioengineering* **2018**, *115* (5), 1253–1264.

(177) Ramos-de-la-Peña, A. M.; Aguilar, O. Progress and Challenges in PEGylated Proteins Downstream Processing: A Review of the Last 8 Years. *International Journal of Peptide Research and Therapeutics* **2020**, 26 (1), 333–348.

(178) Pouyan, P.; Cherri, M.; Haag, R. Polyglycerols as Multi-Functional Platforms: Synthesis and Biomedical Applications. *Polymers* (*Basel*) **2022**, *14* (13), 2684.

(179) Stech, M.; Merk, H.; Schenk, J. A.; Stöcklein, W. F. M.; Wüstenhagen, D. A.; Micheel, B.; Duschl, C.; Bier, F. F.; Kubick, S. Production of functional antibody fragments in a vesicle-based eukaryotic cell-free translation system. *J. Biotechnol.* **2013**, *164* (2), 220–231.

(180) Haueis, L.; Stech, M.; Kubick, S. A Cell-free Expression Pipeline for the Generation and Functional Characterization of Nanobodies. *Frontiers in bioengineering and biotechnology* **2022**, *10*, 896763–896763.

(181) Martin, R. W.; Majewska, N. I.; Chen, C. X.; Albanetti, T. E.; Jimenez, R. B. C.; Schmelzer, A. E.; Jewett, M. C.; Roy, V. Development of a CHO-Based Cell-Free Platform for Synthesis of Active Monoclonal Antibodies. *ACS Synth. Biol.* **2017**, *6* (7), 1370–1379.

(182) Jérôme, V.; Thoring, L.; Salzig, D.; Kubick, S.; Freitag, R. Comparison of cell-based versus cell-free mammalian systems for the production of a recombinant human bone morphogenic growth factor. *Eng. Life Sci.* **2017**, *17* (10), 1097–1107.

(183) Harcum, S. W. Structured model to predict intracellular amino acid shortages during recombinant protein overexpression in E. coli. *Journal of biotechnology* **2002**, *93* (3), 189–202.

(184) Wüstenhagen, D. A.; Lukas, P.; Müller, C.; Aubele, S. A.; Hildebrandt, J.-P.; Kubick, S. Cell-free synthesis of the hirudin variant 1 of the blood-sucking leech Hirudo medicinalis. *Sci. Rep.* **2020**, *10* (1), 19818–19818.

(185) Aleksashin, N. A.; Chang, S. T.-L.; Cate, J. H. D. A highly efficient human cell-free translation system. *RNA* **2023**, 29 (12), 1960–1972.

(186) Mikami, S.; Kobayashi, T.; Machida, K.; Masutani, M.; Yokoyama, S.; Imataka, H. N-terminally truncated GADD34 proteins are convenient translation enhancers in a human cell-derived in vitro protein synthesis system. *Biotechnology letters* **2010**, *32* (7), 897–902.

(187) Kovtun, O.; Mureev, S.; Jung, W.; Kubala, M. H.; Johnston, W.; Alexandrov, K. Leishmania cell-free protein expression system. *Methods* **2011**, 55 (1), 58–64.

(188) Moradi, S. V.; Wu, Y.; Walden, P.; Cui, Z.; Johnston, W. A.; Petrov, D.; Alexandrov, K. In Vitro Reconstitution and Analysis of SARS-CoV-2/Host Protein-Protein Interactions. *ACS Omega* **2023**, *8* (28), 25009–25019.

(189) Wu, Y.; Cui, Z.; Huang, Y.-H.; de Veer, S. J.; Aralov, A. V.; Guo, Z.; Moradi, S. V.; Hinton, A. O.; Deuis, J. R.; Guo, S.; et al. Towards a generic prototyping approach for therapeutically-relevant peptides and proteins in a cell-free translation system. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13* (1), 260–260.

(190) Armero-Gimenez, J.; Wilbers, R.; Schots, A.; Williams, C.; Finnern, R. Rapid screening and scaled manufacture of immunogenic virus-like particles in a tobacco BY-2 cell-free protein synthesis system. *Front Immunol* **2023**, *14*, 1088852–1088852.

(191) Groff, D.; Armstrong, S.; Rivers, P. J.; Zhang, J.; Yang, J.; Green, E.; Rozzelle, J.; Liang, S.; Kittle, J. D., Jr; Steiner, A. R.; et al. Engineering toward a bacterial "endoplasmic reticulum" for the rapid expression of immunoglobulin proteins. *mAbs* **2014**, *6* (3), 671–678.

(192) Des Soye, B. J.; Gerbasi, V. R.; Thomas, P. M.; Kelleher, N. L.; Jewett, M. C. A Highly Productive, One-Pot Cell-Free Protein Synthesis Platform Based on Genomically Recoded Escherichia coli. *Cell chemical biology* **2019**, *26* (12), 1743.

(193) Mureev, S.; Kovtun, O.; Nguyen, U. T. T.; Alexandrov, K. Species-independent translational leaders facilitate cell-free expression. *Nature biotechnology* **2009**, *27* (8), 747–752.

(194) Harbers, M. Wheat germ systems for cell-free protein expression. *FEBS letters* **2014**, *588* (17), 2762–2773.

(195) Kawasaki, T.; Gouda, M. D.; Sawasaki, T.; Takai, K.; Endo, Y. Efficient synthesis of a disulfide-containing protein through a batch cell-free system from wheat germ. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **2003**, 270 (23), 4780–4786.

(196) Buntru, M.; Vogel, S.; Stoff, K.; Spiegel, H.; Schillberg, S. A versatile coupled cell-free transcription-translation system based on tobacco BY-2 cell lysates. *Biotechnology and bioengineering* **2015**, *112* (5), 867–878.

(197) Wang, X.; Liu, J.; Zheng, Y.; Li, J.; Wang, H.; Zhou, Y.; Qi, M.; Yu, H.; Tang, W.; Zhao, W. M. An optimized yeast cell-free system: Sufficient for translation of human papillomavirus 58 L1 mRNA and assembly of virus-like particles. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.* **2008**, *106* (1), 8–15. (198) Sullivan, C. J.; Pendleton, E. D.; Sasmor, H. H.; Hicks, W. L.; Farnum, J. B.; Muto, M.; Amendt, E. M.; Schoborg, J. A.; Martin, R. W.; Clark, L. G.; et al. A cell-free expression and purification process for rapid production of protein biologics. *Biotechnology journal* **2016**, *11* (2), 238–248.

(199) Quast, R. B.; Sonnabend, A.; Stech, M.; Wüstenhagen, D. A.; Kubick, S. High-yield cell-free synthesis of human EGFR by IRESmediated protein translation in a continuous exchange cell-free reaction format. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 30399–30399.

(200) Stech, M.; Nikolaeva, O.; Thoring, L.; Stöcklein, W. F. M.; Wüstenhagen, D. A.; Hust, M.; Dübel, S.; Kubick, S. Cell-free synthesis of functional antibodies using a coupled in vitro transcriptiontranslation system based on CHO cell lysates. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7* (1), 12030–12030.

(201) Sun, Z. Z.; Hayes, C. A.; Shin, J.; Caschera, F.; Murray, R. M.; Noireaux, V. Protocols for Implementing an Escherichia coli Based TX-TL Cell-Free Expression System for Synthetic Biology. *JoVE* **2013**, *79*, No. e50762.

(202) Webster, I. CPI Inflation Calculator, 2024. https://www.in2013dollars.com/us/inflation/ (accessed May 22, 2024).

(203) Schloßhauer, J. L.; Cavak, N.; Zemella, A.; Thoring, L.; Kubick, S. Cell Engineering and Cultivation of Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells for the Development of Orthogonal Eukaryotic Cell-free Translation Systems. *Frontiers in molecular biosciences* **2022**, *9*, 832379–832379.

(204) Thaore, V.; Tsourapas, D.; Shah, N.; Kontoravdi, C. Techno-Economic Assessment of Cell-Free Synthesis of Monoclonal Antibodies Using CHO Cell Extracts. *Processes* **2020**, *8*, 454.

(205) Frey, S.; Haslbeck, M.; Hainzl, O.; Buchner, J. Synthesis and characterization of a functional intact IgG in a prokaryotic cell-free expression system. *Biol. Chem.* **2008**, 389 (1), 37–45.

(206) Yin, G.; Garces, E. D.; Yang, J.; Zhang, J.; Tran, C.; Steiner, A. R.; Roos, C.; Bajad, S.; Hudak, S.; Penta, K.; et al. Aglycosylated antibodies and antibody fragments produced in a scalable in vitro transcription-translation system. *MAbs* **2012**, *4* (2), 217–225.

(207) Stech, M.; Kubick, S. Cell-Free Synthesis Meets Antibody Production: A Review. *Antibodies* **2015**, *4* (1), 12–33.

(208) Zheng, K.; Bantog, C.; Bayer, R. The impact of glycosylation on monoclonal antibody conformation and stability. *mAbs* **2011**, *3* (6), 568–568.

(209) Stech, M.; Hust, M.; Schulze, C.; Dübel, S.; Kubick, S. Cell-free eukaryotic systems for the production, engineering, and modification of scFv antibody fragments. *Eng. Life Sci.* **2014**, *14* (4), 387–398.

(210) Gupta, M. D.; Flaskamp, Y.; Roentgen, R.; Juergens, H.; Armero-Gimenez, J.; Albrecht, F.; Hemmerich, J.; Arfi, Z. A.; Neuser, J.; Spiegel, H.; et al. Scaling eukaryotic cell-free protein synthesis achieved with the versatile and high-yielding tobacco BY-2 cell lysate. *Biotechnology and bioengineering* **2023**, *120* (10), 2890–2906.

(211) Nuti, N.; Rottmann, P.; Stucki, A.; Koch, P.; Panke, S.; Dittrich, P. S. A Multiplexed Cell-Free Assay to Screen for Antimicrobial Peptides in Double Emulsion Droplets. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **2022**, *61* (13), e202114632–e202114632.

(212) Gabant, P.; Borrero, J. PARAGEN 1.0: A Standardized Synthetic Gene Library for Fast Cell-Free Bacteriocin Synthesis. *Frontiers in bioengineering and biotechnology* **2019**, *7*, 213–213.

(213) Liu, R.; Zhang, Y.; Zhai, G.; Fu, S.; Xia, Y.; Hu, B.; Cai, X.; Zhang, Y.; Li, Y.; Deng, Z.; Liu, T. A Cell-Free Platform Based on Nisin Biosynthesis for Discovering Novel Lanthipeptides and Guiding their Overproduction In Vivo. *Adv. Sci. (Weinh)* **2020**, *7* (17), 2001616–2001616.

(214) Si, Y.; Kretsch, A. M.; Daigh, L. M.; Burk, M. J.; Mitchell, D. A. Cell-Free Biosynthesis to Evaluate Lasso Peptide Formation and Enzyme-Substrate Tolerance. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2021**, *143* (15), 5917–5927.

(215) Goering, A. W.; Li, J.; McClure, R. A.; Thomson, R. J.; Jewett, M. C.; Kelleher, N. L. In Vitro Reconstruction of Nonribosomal Peptide Biosynthesis Directly from DNA Using Cell-Free Protein Synthesis. *ACS synthetic biology* **2017**, *6* (1), 39–44.

(216) Zhuang, L.; Huang, S.; Liu, W.-Q.; Karim, A. S.; Jewett, M. C.; Li, J. Total in vitro biosynthesis of the nonribosomal macrolactone peptide valinomycin. *Metabolic engineering* **2020**, *60*, 37–44.

(217) Sletten, E. M.; Bertozzi, C. R. From Mechanism to Mouse: A Tale of Two Bioorthogonal Reactions. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2011**, *44* (9), 666–676.

(218) Völler, J.-S.; Budisa, N. Coupling genetic code expansion and metabolic engineering for synthetic cells. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2017**, 48, 1–7.

(219) Hecht, S. M.; Alford, B. L.; Kuroda, Y.; Kitano, S. Chemical aminoacylation" of tRNA's. J. Biol. Chem. **1978**, 253 (13), 4517–4520.

(220) Robertson, S. A.; Noren, C. J.; Anthony-Cahill, S. J.; Griffith, M. C.; Schultz, P. G. The use of 5'-phospho-2 deoxyribocytidylylriboadenosine as a facile route to chemical aminoacylation of tRNA. *Nucleic acids research* **1989**, *17* (23), 9649–9660.

(221) Bain, J. D.; Diala, E. S.; Glabe, C. G.; Dix, T. A.; Chamberlin, A. R. Biosynthetic site-specific incorporation of a non-natural amino acid into a polypeptide. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1989**, *111* (20), 8013–8014.

(222) Noren, C. J.; Anthony-Cahill, S. J.; Griffith, M. C.; Schultz, P. G. A General Method for Site-specific Incorporation of Unnatural Amino Acids into Proteins. *Science* **1989**, *244* (4901), 182–188.

(223) Murakami, H.; Ohta, A.; Ashigai, H.; Suga, H. A highly flexible tRNA acylation method for non-natural polypeptide synthesis. *Nat. Methods* **2006**, 3 (5), 357–359.

(224) Ezure, T.; Nanatani, K.; Sato, Y.; Suzuki, S.; Aizawa, K.; Souma, S.; Ito, M.; Hohsaka, T.; von Heijine, G.; Utsumi, T.; et al. A cell-free translocation system using extracts of cultured insect cells to yield functional membrane proteins. *PloS one* **2014**, *9* (12), e112874–e112874.

(225) LaRiviere, F. J.; Wolfson, A. D.; Uhlenbeck, O. C. Uniform Binding of Aminoacyl-tRNAs to Elongation Factor Tu by Thermodynamic Compensation. *Science* **2001**, *294* (5540), 165–168.

(226) Mittelstaet, J.; Konevega, A. L.; Rodnina, M. V. A Kinetic Safety Gate Controlling the Delivery of Unnatural Amino Acids to the Ribosome. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135* (45), 17031–17038.

(227) Monahan, S. L.; Lester, H. A.; Dougherty, D. A. Site-Specific Incorporation of Unnatural Amino Acids into Receptors Expressed in Mammalian Cells. *Chemistry & amp; Biology* **2003**, *10* (6), 573–580. (228) Ohno, S.; Yokogawa, T.; Fujii, I.; Asahara, H.; Inokuchi, H.;

Nishikawa, K. Co-Expression of Yeast Amber Suppressor tRNATyr and Tyrosyl-tRNA Synthetase in Escherichia coli: Possibility to Expand the Genetic Code. *Journal of Biochemistry* **1998**, *124* (6), 1065–1068.

(229) Wang, L.; Brock, A.; Herberich, B.; Schultz, P. G. Expanding the Genetic Code of Escherichia coli. *Science* **2001**, *292* (5516), 498–500. (230) Chin, J. W.; Cropp, T. A.; Anderson, J. C.; Mukherji, M.; Zhang, Z.; Schultz, P. G. An Expanded Eukaryotic Genetic Code. *Science* **2003**, *301* (5635), 964–967.

(231) Tsunoda, M.; Kusakabe, Y.; Tanaka, N.; Ohno, S.; Nakamura, M.; Senda, T.; Moriguchi, T.; Asai, N.; Sekine, M.; Yokogawa, T.; et al. Structural basis for recognition of cognate tRNA by tyrosyl-tRNA synthetase from three kingdoms. *Nucleic acids research* **2007**, *35* (13), 4289–4300.

(232) Thibodeaux, G. N.; Liang, X.; Moncivais, K.; Umeda, A.; Singer, O.; Alfonta, L.; Zhang, Z. J. Transforming a Pair of Orthogonal tRNAaminoacyl-tRNA Synthetase from Archaea to Function in Mammalian Cells. *PloS one* **2010**, *5* (6), No. e11263.

(233) Cui, Z.; Johnston, W. A.; Alexandrov, K. Cell-Free Approach for Non-canonical Amino Acids Incorporation Into Polypeptides. *Frontiers in bioengineering and biotechnology* **2020**, *8*, 1031–1031.

(234) Hughes, R. A.; Ellington, A. D. Rational design of an orthogonal tryptophanyl nonsense suppressor tRNA. *Nucleic acids research* **2010**, 38 (19), 6813–6830.

(235) Zheng, Y.; Mukherjee, R.; Chin, M. A.; Igo, P.; Gilgenast, M. J.; Chatterjee, A. Expanding the Scope of Single- and Double-Noncanonical Amino Acid Mutagenesis in Mammalian Cells Using Orthogonal Polyspecific Leucyl-tRNA Synthetases. *Biochemistry* **2018**, 57 (4), 441–445.

(236) Wu, N.; Deiters, A.; Cropp, T. A.; King, D.; Schultz, P. G. A Genetically Encoded Photocaged Amino Acid. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2004, *126* (44), 14306–14307.

(237) Andrews, J.; Gan, Q.; Fan, C. "Not-so-popular" orthogonal pairs in genetic code expansion. *Protein science: a publication of the Protein Society* **2023**, 32 (2), e4559–e4559.

(238) Srinivasan, G.; James, C. M.; Krzycki, J. A. Pyrrolysine Encoded by UAG in Archaea: Charging of a UAG-Decoding Specialized tRNA. *Science* **2002**, *296* (5572), 1459–1462.

(239) Nozawa, K.; O'Donoghue, P.; Gundllapalli, S.; Araiso, Y.; Ishitani, R.; Umehara, T.; Söll, D.; Nureki, O. Pyrrolysyl-tRNA synthetase-tRNA(Pyl) structure reveals the molecular basis of orthogonality. *Nature* **2009**, 457 (7233), 1163–1167.

(240) Suzuki, T.; Miller, C.; Guo, L.-T.; Ho, J. M. L.; Bryson, D. I.; Wang, Y.-S.; Liu, D. R.; Söll, D. Crystal structures reveal an elusive functional domain of pyrrolysyl-tRNA synthetase. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2017**, *13* (12), 1261–1266.

(241) Odoi, K. A.; Huang, Y.; Rezenom, Y. H.; Liu, W. R. Nonsense and sense suppression abilities of original and derivative Methanosarcina mazei pyrrolysyl-tRNA synthetase-tRNA(Pyl) pairs in the Escherichia coli BL21(DE3) cell strain. *PloS one* **2013**, *8* (3), e57035– e57035.

(242) Wan, W.; Huang, Y.; Wang, Z.; Russell, W. K.; Pai, P. J.; Russell, D. H.; Liu, W. R. A Facile System for Genetic Incorporation of Two Different Noncanonical Amino Acids into One Protein in Escherichia coli. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2010**, *49* (18), 3211–3214.

(243) Mukai, T.; Kobayashi, T.; Hino, N.; Yanagisawa, T.; Sakamoto, K.; Yokoyama, S. Adding l-lysine derivatives to the genetic code of mammalian cells with engineered pyrrolysyl-tRNA synthetases. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **2008**, *371* (4), 818–822.

(244) Hancock, S. M.; Uprety, R.; Deiters, A.; Chin, J. W. Expanding the Genetic Code of Yeast for Incorporation of Diverse Unnatural Amino Acids via a Pyrrolysyl-tRNA Synthetase/tRNA Pair. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132* (42), 14819–14824. (245) Rennert, O. M.; Anker, H. S. On the Incorporation of 5',5',5'-Trifluoroleucine into Proteins of E. coli. *Biochemistry* **1963**, 2 (3), 471– 476.

(246) Budisa, N.; Steipe, B.; Demange, P.; Eckerskorn, C.; Kellermann, J.; Huber, R. High-level Biosynthetic Substitution of Methionine in Proteins by its Analogs 2-Aminohexanoic Acid, Selenomethionine, Telluromethionine and Ethionine in Escherichia coli. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1995**, 230 (2), 788–796.

(247) Tang, Y.; Ghirlanda, G.; Petka, W. A.; Nakajima, T.; DeGrado, W. F.; Tirrell, D. A. Fluorinated Coiled-Coil Proteins Prepared In Vivo Display Enhanced Thermal and Chemical Stability. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2001**, *40* (8), 1494–1496.

(248) Tang, Y.; Tirrell, D. A. Biosynthesis of a Highly Stable Coiled-Coil Protein Containing Hexafluoroleucine in an Engineered Bacterial Host. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123* (44), 11089–11090.

(249) Lepthien, S.; Merkel, L.; Budisa, N. In Vivo Double and Triple Labeling of Proteins Using Synthetic Amino Acids. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2010**, *49* (32), 5446–5450.

(250) Ostrov, N.; Landon, M.; Guell, M.; Kuznetsov, G.; Teramoto, J.; Cervantes, N.; Zhou, M.; Singh, K.; Napolitano, M. G.; Moosburner, M.; et al. Design, synthesis, and testing toward a 57-codon genome. *Science* **2016**, 353 (6301), 819–822.

(251) Fredens, J.; Wang, K.; de la Torre, D.; Funke, L. F. H.; Robertson, W. E.; Christova, Y.; Chia, T.; Schmied, W. H.; Dunkelmann, D. L.; Beránek, V.; et al. Total synthesis of Escherichia coli with a recoded genome. *Nature* **2019**, *569* (7757), 514–518.

(252) Robertson, W. E.; Funke, L. F. H.; de la Torre, D.; Fredens, J.; Elliott, T. S.; Spinck, M.; Christova, Y.; Cervettini, D.; Böge, F. L.; Liu, K. C.; et al. Sense codon reassignment enables viral resistance and encoded polymer synthesis. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **2021**, 372 (6546), 1057–1062.

(253) Anderson, J. C.; Wu, N.; Santoro, S. W.; Lakshman, V.; King, D. S.; Schultz, P. G. An expanded genetic code with a functional quadruplet codon. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2004**, *101* (20), 7566–7571.

(254) Wang, K.; Neumann, H.; Peak-Chew, S. Y.; Chin, J. W. Evolved orthogonal ribosomes enhance the efficiency of synthetic genetic code expansion. *Nature biotechnology* **2007**, *25* (7), 770–777.

(255) Neumann, H.; Wang, K.; Davis, L.; Garcia-Alai, M.; Chin, J. W. Encoding multiple unnatural amino acids via evolution of a quadrupletdecoding ribosome. *Nature* **2010**, *464* (7287), 441–444.

(256) Niu, W.; Schultz, P. G.; Guo, J. An expanded genetic code in mammalian cells with a functional quadruplet codon. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2013**, *8* (7), 1640–1645.

(257) Carlson, E. D.; d'Aquino, A. E.; Kim, D. S.; Fulk, E. M.; Hoang, K.; Szal, T.; Mankin, A. S.; Jewett, M. C. Engineered ribosomes with tethered subunits for expanding biological function. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10* (1), 3920–3920.

(258) DeBenedictis, E. A.; Carver, G. D.; Chung, C. Z.; Söll, D.; Badran, A. H. Multiplex suppression of four quadruplet codons via tRNA directed evolution. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12* (1), 5706–5706.

(259) Dunkelmann, D. L.; Oehm, S. B.; Beattie, A. T.; Chin, J. W. A 68-codon genetic code to incorporate four distinct non-canonical amino acids enabled by automated orthogonal mRNA design. *Nature Chem.* **2021**, *13* (11), 1110–1117.

(260) Luo, J.; Uprety, R.; Naro, Y.; Chou, C.; Nguyen, D. P.; Chin, J. W.; Deiters, A. Genetically encoded optochemical probes for simultaneous fluorescence reporting and light activation of protein function with two-photon excitation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (44), 15551–15558.

(261) Steinberg, X.; Galpin, J.; Nasir, G.; Sepúlveda, R. V.; Ladron de Guevara, E.; Gonzalez-Nilo, F.; Islas, L. D.; Ahern, C. A.; Brauchi, S. E. A rationally designed orthogonal synthetase for genetically encoded fluorescent amino acids. *Heliyon* **2020**, *6* (10), e05140–e05140.

(262) Chen, C.; Yu, G.; Huang, Y.; Cheng, W.; Li, Y.; Sun, Y.; Ye, H.; Liu, T. Genetic-code-expanded cell-based therapy for treating diabetes in mice. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2022**, *18* (1), 47–55.

(263) Meineke, B.; Heimgärtner, J.; Eirich, J.; Landreh, M.; Elsässer, S. J. Site-Specific Incorporation of Two ncAAs for Two-Color Bioorthogonal Labeling and Crosslinking of Proteins on Live Mammalian Cells. *Cell Reports* **2020**, *31* (12), No. 107811.

(264) Nikić, I.; Estrada Girona, G.; Kang, J. H.; Paci, G.; Mikhaleva, S.; Koehler, C.; Shymanska, N. V.; Ventura Santos, C.; Spitz, D.; Lemke, E. A. Debugging Eukaryotic Genetic Code Expansion for Site-Specific Click-PAINT Super-Resolution Microscopy. *Angewandte Chemie* (*International ed. in English*) **2016**, 55 (52), 16172–16176.

(265) Syed, J.; Palani, S.; Clarke, S. T.; Asad, Z.; Bottrill, A. R.; Jones, A. M. E.; Sampath, K.; Balasubramanian, M. K. Expanding the Zebrafish Genetic Code through Site-Specific Introduction of Azido-lysine, Bicyclononyne-lysine, and Diazirine-lysine. *International journal of molecular sciences* **2019**, *20* (10), 2577.

(266) Xi, Z.; Davis, L.; Baxter, K.; Tynan, A.; Goutou, A.; Greiss, S. Using a quadruplet codon to expand the genetic code of an animal. *Nucleic acids research* **2022**, *50* (9), 4801–4812.

(267) Kanai, A. Welcome to the new tRNA world! *Front Genet* **2014**, *5*, 336.

(268) Ganesh, R. B.; Maerkl, S. J. Biochemistry of Aminoacyl tRNA Synthetase and tRNAs and Their Engineering for Cell-Free and Synthetic Cell Applications. *Front Bioeng Biotechnol* **2022**, *10*, No. 918659.

(269) Jose, M. V.; Morgado, E. R.; Guimaraes, R. C.; Zamudio, G. S.; de Farias, S. T.; Bobadilla, J. R.; Sosa, D. Three-Dimensional Algebraic Models of the tRNA Code and 12 Graphs for Representing the Amino Acids. *Life (Basel)* **2014**, *4* (3), 341–373.

(270) Grobe, S.; Doberenz, S.; Ferreira, K.; Krueger, J.; Bronstrup, M.; Kaever, V.; Haussler, S. Identification and Quantification of (t)RNA Modifications in Pseudomonas aeruginosa by Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Chembiochem* **2019**, *20* (11), 1430–1437.

(271) Cui, W.; Zhao, D.; Jiang, J.; Tang, F.; Zhang, C.; Duan, C. tRNA Modifications and Modifying Enzymes in Disease, the Potential Therapeutic Targets. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* **2023**, *19* (4), 1146–1162.

(272) Shigi, N. Biosynthesis and Degradation of Sulfur Modifications in tRNAs. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2021**, *22* (21), 11937.

(273) Godinic-Mikulcic, V.; Jaric, J.; Greber, B. J.; Franke, V.; Hodnik, V.; Anderluh, G.; Ban, N.; Weygand-Durasevic, I. Archaeal aminoacyltRNA synthetases interact with the ribosome to recycle tRNAs. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2014**, *42* (8), 5191–5201.

(274) Cappannini, A.; Ray, A.; Purta, E.; Mukherjee, S.; Boccaletto, P.; Moafinejad, S. N.; Lechner, A.; Barchet, C.; Klaholz, B. P.; Stefaniak, F.; Bujnicki, J. M. MODOMICS: a database of RNA modifications and related information. 2023 update. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2024**, *52*, D239.

(275) Grosjean, H. Modification and editing of RNA: historical overview and important facts to remember. In *Fine-tuning of RNA functions by modification and editing*; Springer, 2005; pp 1–22.

(276) Bjork, G. R.; Hagervall, T. G. Transfer RNA Modification: Presence, Synthesis, and Function. *EcoSal Plus* **2014**, *6* (1). DOI: 10.1128/ecosalplus.esp-0007-2013.

(277) Betat, H.; Long, Y.; Jackman, J. E.; Morl, M. From end to end: tRNA editing at 5'- and 3'-terminal positions. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2014**, *15* (12), 23975–23998.

(278) Young, D. D.; Schultz, P. G. Playing with the Molecules of Life. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2018**, *13* (4), 854–870.

(279) Tan, L.; Zheng, Z.; Xu, Y.; Kong, W.; Dai, Z.; Qin, X.; Liu, T.; Tang, H. Efficient Selection Scheme for Incorporating Noncanonical Amino Acids Into Proteins in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Front Bioeng Biotechnol* **2020**, *8*, No. 569191.

(280) Khambhati, K.; Bhattacharjee, G.; Gohil, N.; Braddick, D.; Kulkarni, V.; Singh, V. Exploring the Potential of Cell-Free Protein Synthesis for Extending the Abilities of Biological Systems. *Front Bioeng Biotechnol* **2019**, *7*, 248.

(281) Hartsough, E. M.; Shah, P.; Larsen, A. C.; Chaput, J. C. Comparative analysis of eukaryotic cell-free expression systems. *Biotechniques* **2015**, 59 (3), 149–151.

(282) Bock, A.; Forchhammer, K.; Heider, J.; Baron, C. Selenoprotein synthesis: an expansion of the genetic code. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* **1991**, *16* (12), 463–467.

(283) Gaston, M. A.; Jiang, R.; Krzycki, J. A. Functional context, biosynthesis, and genetic encoding of pyrrolysine. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* **2011**, *14* (3), 342–349.

(284) Scolnick, E.; Tompkins, R.; Caskey, T.; Nirenberg, M. Release factors differing in specificity for terminator codons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1968**, *61* (2), 768–774.

(285) Lajoie, M. J.; Rovner, A. J.; Goodman, D. B.; Aerni, H. R.; Haimovich, A. D.; Kuznetsov, G.; Mercer, J. A.; Wang, H. H.; Carr, P. A.; Mosberg, J. A.; et al. Genomically recoded organisms expand biological functions. *Science* **2013**, 342 (6156), 357–360.

(286) Mukai, T.; Hoshi, H.; Ohtake, K.; Takahashi, M.; Yamaguchi, A.; Hayashi, A.; Yokoyama, S.; Sakamoto, K. Highly reproductive Escherichia coli cells with no specific assignment to the UAG codon. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, *5* (1), 9699.

(287) Forster, A. C.; Tan, Z.; Nalam, M. N.; Lin, H.; Qu, H.; Cornish, V. W.; Blacklow, S. C. Programming peptidomimetic syntheses by translating genetic codes designed de novo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2003**, *100* (11), 6353–6357.

(288) Tittle, J. M.; Schwark, D. G.; Biddle, W.; Schmitt, M. A.; Fisk, J. D. Impact of queuosine modification of endogenous E. coli tRNAs on sense codon reassignment. *Front Mol. Biosci* **2022**, *9*, No. 938114.

(289) Nguyen, H. A.; Dunham, C. M. Importance of the m1G37 modification and 32–38 pairing in tRNAPro (CCG) on decoding and tRNA stability. *FASEB J.* **2019**, *33* (S1), 630.636.

(290) McFeely, C. A. L.; Dods, K. K.; Patel, S. S.; Hartman, M. C. T. Expansion of the genetic code through reassignment of redundant sense codons using fully modified tRNA. *Nucleic acids research* **2022**, *50* (19), 11374–11386.

(291) McFeely, C. A. L.; Dods, K. K.; Patel, S. S.; Hartman, M. C. T. Expansion of the genetic code through reassignment of redundant sense codons using fully modified tRNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2022**, *50* (19), 11374–11386.

(292) JACKSON, R. J.; NAPTHINE, S.; BRIERLEY, I. Development of a tRNA-dependent in vitro translation system. *RNA* **2001**, 7 (5), 765–773.

(293) Ahn, J.-H.; Hwang, M.-Y.; Oh, I.-S.; Park, K.-M.; Hahn, G.-H.; Choi, C.-Y.; Kim, D.-M. Preparation method for Escherichia coli S30 extracts completely dependent upon tRNA addition to catalyze cell-free protein synthesis. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering* **2006**, *11*, 420–424.

(294) Suhasini, A. N.; Sirdeshmukh, R. Transfer RNA cleavages by onconase reveal unusual cleavage sites. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2006**, 281 (18), 12201–12209.

(295) Kim, T. W.; Keum, J. W.; Oh, I. S.; Choi, C. Y.; Park, C. G.; Kim, D. M. Simple procedures for the construction of a robust and cost-effective cell-free protein synthesis system. *J. Biotechnol.* **2006**, *126* (4), 554–561.

(296) Lee, K. B.; Hou, C. Y.; Kim, C. E.; Kim, D. M.; Suga, H.; Kang, T. J. Genetic Code Expansion by Degeneracy Reprogramming of Arginyl Codons. *Chembiochem* **2016**, *17* (13), 1198–1201.

(297) Cui, Z.; Wu, Y.; Mureev, S.; Alexandrov, K. Oligonucleotidemediated tRNA sequestration enables one-pot sense codon reassignment in vitro. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2018**, *46* (12), 6387–6400.

(298) Behrens, A.; Nedialkova, D. D. Experimental and computational workflow for the analysis of tRNA pools from eukaryotic cells by mimtRNAseq. *STAR Protoc* **2022**, *3* (3), No. 101579.

(299) Behrens, A.; Rodschinka, G.; Nedialkova, D. D. High-resolution quantitative profiling of tRNA abundance and modification status in eukaryotes by mim-tRNAseq. *Mol. Cell* **2021**, *81* (8), 1802.

(300) Kothe, U.; Paleskava, A.; Konevega, A. L.; Rodnina, M. V. Single-step purification of specific tRNAs by hydrophobic tagging. *Anal. Biochem.* **2006**, 356 (1), 148–150.

(301) Cao, K. Y.; Pan, Y.; Yan, T. M.; Jiang, Z. H. Purification, characterization and cytotoxic activities of individual tRNAs from Escherichia coli. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2020**, *142*, 355–365.

(302) Kaneko, T.; Suzuki, T.; Kapushoc, S. T.; Rubio, M. A.; Ghazvini, J.; Watanabe, K.; Simpson, L.; Suzuki, T. Wobble modification differences and subcellular localization of tRNAs in Leishmania

Review

tarentolae: implication for tRNA sorting mechanism. *EMBO J.* **2003**, *22* (3), 657–667.

(303) Cervettini, D.; Tang, S.; Fried, S. D.; Willis, J. C. W.; Funke, L. F. H.; Colwell, L. J.; Chin, J. W. Rapid discovery and evolution of orthogonal aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase-tRNA pairs. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2020**, *38* (8), 989–999.

(304) Akiyama, Y.; Kharel, P.; Abe, T.; Anderson, P.; Ivanov, P. Isolation and initial structure-functional characterization of endogenous tRNA-derived stress-induced RNAs. *RNA Biol.* **2020**, *17* (8), 1116–1124.

(305) Milligan, J. F.; Uhlenbeck, O. C. Determination of RNA-protein contacts using thiophosphate substitutions. *Biochemistry* **1989**, *28* (7), 2849–2855.

(306) Ogilvie, K. K.; Usman, N.; Nicoghosian, K.; Cedergren, R. J. Total chemical synthesis of a 77-nucleotide-long RNA sequence having methionine-acceptance activity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1988**, 85 (16), 5764–5768.

(307) Helm, M.; Brule, H.; Giege, R.; Florentz, C. More mistakes by T7 RNA polymerase at the 5' ends of in vitro-transcribed RNAs. *RNA* **1999**, 5 (5), 618–621.

(308) Baronti, L.; Karlsson, H.; Marusic, M.; Petzold, K. A guide to large-scale RNA sample preparation. *Anal Bioanal Chem.* **2018**, *410* (14), 3239–3252.

(309) Salehi, A. S. M.; Smith, M. T.; Schinn, S. M.; Hunt, J. M.; Muhlestein, C.; Diray-Arce, J.; Nielsen, B. L.; Bundy, B. C. Efficient tRNA degradation and quantification in Escherichia coli cell extract using RNase-coated magnetic beads: A key step toward codon emancipation. *Biotechnol. Prog.* **2017**, *33* (5), 1401–1407.

(310) Hibi, K.; Amikura, K.; Sugiura, N.; Masuda, K.; Ohno, S.; Yokogawa, T.; Ueda, T.; Shimizu, Y. Reconstituted cell-free protein synthesis using in vitro transcribed tRNAs. *Commun. Biol.* **2020**, *3* (1), 350.

(311) Koch, N. G.; Baumann, T.; Budisa, N. Efficient Unnatural Protein Production by Pyrrolysyl-tRNA Synthetase With Genetically Fused Solubility Tags. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology* **2021**, DOI: 10.3389/fbioe.2021.807438.

(312) Willis, J. C. W.; Chin, J. W. Mutually orthogonal pyrrolysyltRNA synthetase/tRNA pairs. *Nature Chem.* **2018**, *10* (8), 831–837.

(313) Avila-Crump, S.; Hemshorn, M. L.; Jones, C. M.; Mbengi, L.; Meyer, K.; Griffis, J. A.; Jana, S.; Petrina, G. E.; Pagar, V. V.; Karplus, P. A.; et al. Generating Efficient Methanomethylophilus alvus PyrrolysyltRNA Synthetases for Structurally Diverse Non-Canonical Amino Acids. ACS Chem. Biol. **2022**, 17 (12), 3458–3469.

(314) Seki, E.; Yanagisawa, T.; Kuratani, M.; Sakamoto, K.; Yokoyama, S. Fully Productive Cell-Free Genetic Code Expansion by Structure-Based Engineering of Methanomethylophilus alvus Pyrrolysyl-tRNA Synthetase. *ACS Synth. Biol.* **2020**, *9* (4), 718–732.

(315) Gottfried-Lee, I.; Perona, J. J.; Karplus, P. A.; Mehl, R. A.; Cooley, R. B. Structures of Methanomethylophilus alvus Pyrrolysine tRNA-Synthetases Support the Need for De Novo Selections When Altering the Substrate Specificity. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2022**, *17* (12), 3470–3477.

(316) Taylor, C. J.; Hardy, F. J.; Burke, A. J.; Bednar, R. M.; Mehl, R. A.; Green, A. P.; Lovelock, S. L. Engineering mutually orthogonal PylRS/tRNA pairs for dual encoding of functional histidine analogues. *Protein Sci.* **2023**, 32 (5), No. e4640.

(317) Meineke, B.; Heimgärtner, J.; Lafranchi, L.; Elsässer, S. J. Methanomethylophilus alvus Mx1201 Provides Basis for Mutual Orthogonal Pyrrolysyl tRNA/Aminoacyl-tRNA Synthetase Pairs in Mammalian Cells. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2018**, *13* (11), 3087–3096.

(318) Stieglitz, J. T.; Potts, K. A.; Van Deventer, J. A. Broadening the Toolkit for Quantitatively Evaluating Noncanonical Amino Acid Incorporation in Yeast. *ACS Synth. Biol.* **2021**, *10* (11), 3094–3104.

(319) Beattie, A. T.; Dunkelmann, D. L.; Chin, J. W. Quintuply orthogonal pyrrolysyl-tRNA synthetase/tRNA(Pyl) pairs. *Nature Chem.* **2023**, *15* (7), 948–959.

(320) Johnson, D. B. F.; Xu, J.; Shen, Z.; Takimoto, J. K.; Schultz, M. D.; Schmitz, R. J.; Xiang, Z.; Ecker, J. R.; Briggs, S. P.; Wang, L. RF1

knockout allows ribosomal incorporation of unnatural amino acids at multiple sites. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2011**, 7 (11), 779–786.

(321) Huang, Y.; Russell, W.; Wan, W.; Pai, P.-J.; Liu, W.; et al. A convenient method for genetic incorporation of multiple noncanonical amino acids into one protein in Escherichia coli. *Molecular bioSystems* **2010**, *6*, 683–686.

(322) Lajoie, M. J.; Rovner, A. J.; Goodman, D. B.; Aerni, H.-R.; Haimovich, A. D.; Kuznetsov, G.; Mercer, J. A.; Wang, H. H.; Carr, P. A.; Mosberg, J. A.; et al. Genomically recoded organisms expand biological functions. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **2013**, 342 (6156), 357– 360.

(323) Barber, K. W.; Muir, P.; Szeligowski, R. V.; Rogulina, S.; Gerstein, M.; Sampson, J. R.; Isaacs, F. J.; Rinehart, J. Encoding human serine phosphopeptides in bacteria for proteome-wide identification of phosphorylation-dependent interactions. *Nature biotechnology* **2018**, *36* (7), 638–644.

(324) Perez, J. G.; Carlson, E. D.; Weisser, O.; Kofman, C.; Seki, K.; Des Soye, B. J.; Karim, A. S.; Jewett, M. C. Improving genomically recoded Escherichia coli to produce proteins containing non-canonical amino acids. *Biotechnology journal* **2022**, *17* (4). DOI: 10.1002/biot.202100330.

(325) Yi, H.; Zhang, J.; Ke, F.; Guo, X.; Yang, J.; Xie, P.; Liu, L.; Wang, Q.; Gao, X. Comparative Analyses of the Transcriptome and Proteome of Escherichia coli C321. \triangle A and Further Improving Its Noncanonical Amino Acids Containing Protein Expression Ability by Integration of T7 RNA Polymerase. *Frontiers in microbiology* **2021**, *12*, 744284–744284.

(326) Schmied, W. H.; Elsässer, S. J.; Uttamapinant, C.; Chin, J. W. Efficient multisite unnatural amino acid incorporation in mammalian cells via optimized pyrrolysyl tRNA synthetase/tRNA expression and engineered eRF1. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (44), 15577–15583.

(327) Shi, N.; Tong, L.; Lin, H.; Zheng, Z.; Zhang, H.; Dong, L.; Yang, Y.; Shen, Y.; Xia, Q. Optimizing eRF1 to Enable the Genetic Encoding of Three Distinct Noncanonical Amino Acids in Mammalian Cells. *Advanced Biology* **2022**, *6* (11). DOI: 10.1002/adbi.202200092.

(328) Singh-Blom, A.; Hughes, R. A.; Ellington, A. D. An amino acid depleted cell-free protein synthesis system for the incorporation of noncanonical amino acid analogs into proteins. *Journal of biotechnology* **2014**, 178, 12–22.

(329) Shimizu, Y.; Inoue, A.; Tomari, Y.; Suzuki, T.; Yokogawa, T.; Nishikawa, K.; Ueda, T. Cell-free translation reconstituted with purified components. *Nature biotechnology* **2001**, *19* (8), 751–755.

(330) Shimizu, Y.; Ueda, T. PURE Technology. In *Methods Mol. Biol.*; Humana Press, 2009; pp 11–21.

(331) Goto, Y.; Katoh, T.; Suga, H. Flexizymes for genetic code reprogramming. *Nature protocols* **2011**, *6* (6), 779–790.

(332) Hibi, K.; Amikura, K.; Sugiura, N.; Masuda, K.; Ohno, S.; Yokogawa, T.; Ueda, T.; Shimizu, Y. Reconstituted cell-free protein synthesis using in vitro transcribed tRNAs. *Communications Biology* **2020**, 3 (1). DOI: 10.1038/s42003-020-1074-2.

(333) Ohta, A.; Murakami, H.; Higashimura, E.; Suga, H. Synthesis of Polyester by Means of Genetic Code Reprogramming. *Chemistry* &*amp; Biology* **2007**, *14* (12), 1315–1322.

(334) Iwane, Y.; Hitomi, A.; Murakami, H.; Katoh, T.; Goto, Y.; Suga, H. Expanding the amino acid repertoire of ribosomal polypeptide synthesis via the artificial division of codon boxes. *Nat. Chem.* **2016**, *8* (4), 317–325.

(335) Cui, Z.; Wu, Y.; Mureev, S.; Alexandrov, K. Oligonucleotidemediated tRNA sequestration enables one-pot sense codon reassignment in vitro. *Nucleic acids research* **2018**, *46* (12), 6387–6400.

(336) Albayrak, C.; Swartz, J. R. Cell-free co-production of an orthogonal transfer RNA activates efficient site-specific non-natural amino acid incorporation. *Nucleic acids research* **2013**, *41* (11), 5949–5963.

(337) Worst, E. G.; Exner, M. P.; De Simone, A.; Schenkelberger, M.; Noireaux, V.; Budisa, N.; Ott, A. Cell-free expression with the toxic amino acid canavanine. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters* **2015**, 25 (17), 3658–3660. (338) Yanagisawa, T.; Seki, E.; Tanabe, H.; Fujii, Y.; Sakamoto, K.; Yokoyama, S. Crystal Structure of Pyrrolysyl-tRNA Synthetase from a Methanogenic Archaeon ISO4-G1 and Its Structure-Based Engineering for Highly-Productive Cell-Free Genetic Code Expansion with Non-Canonical Amino Acids. *International journal of molecular sciences* **2023**, *24*, 6256.

(339) Martin, R. W.; Des Soye, B. J.; Kwon, Y.-C.; Kay, J.; Davis, R. G.; Thomas, P. M.; Majewska, N. I.; Chen, C. X.; Marcum, R. D.; Weiss, M. G.; et al. Cell-free protein synthesis from genomically recoded bacteria enables multisite incorporation of noncanonical amino acids. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9* (1), 1203–1203.

(340) Seki, K.; Galindo, J. L.; Karim, A. S.; Jewett, M. C. A Cell-Free Gene Expression Platform for Discovering and Characterizing Stop Codon Suppressing tRNAs. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2023**, *18* (6), 1324–1334.

(341) Uyeda, A.; Watanabe, T.; Kato, Y.; Watanabe, H.; Yomo, T.; Hohsaka, T.; Matsuura, T. Liposome-Based in Vitro Evolution of Aminoacyl-tRNA Synthetase for Enhanced Pyrrolysine Derivative Incorporation. *Chembiochem: a European journal of chemical biology* **2015**, *16* (12), 1797–1802.

(342) Zimmerman, E. S.; Heibeck, T. H.; Gill, A.; Li, X.; Murray, C. J.; Madlansacay, M. R.; Tran, C.; Uter, N. T.; Yin, G.; Rivers, P. J.; et al. Production of Site-Specific Antibody–Drug Conjugates Using Optimized Non-Natural Amino Acids in a Cell-Free Expression System. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2014**, *25* (2), 351–361.

(343) Krebs, S. K.; Rakotoarinoro, N.; Stech, M.; Zemella, A.; Kubick, S. A CHO-Based Cell-Free Dual Fluorescence Reporter System for the Straightforward Assessment of Amber Suppression and scFv Functionality. *Frontiers in bioengineering and biotechnology* **2022**, *10*, 873906–873906.

(344) Yin, G.; Stephenson, H. T.; Yang, J.; Li, X.; Armstrong, S. M.; Heibeck, T. H.; Tran, C.; Masikat, M. R.; Zhou, S.; Stafford, R. L.; et al. RF1 attenuation enables efficient non-natural amino acid incorporation for production of homogeneous antibody drug conjugates. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, 7 (1), 3026–3026.

(345) Hanson, J.; Groff, D.; Carlos, A.; Usman, H.; Fong, K.; Yu, A.; Armstrong, S.; Dwyer, A.; Masikat, M. R.; Yuan, D.; et al. An Integrated In Vivo/In Vitro Protein Production Platform for Site-Specific Antibody Drug Conjugates. *Bioengineering (Basel, Switzerland)* **2023**, *10* (3), 304.

(346) Lim, H. J.; Kim, D.-M. Cell-Free Metabolic Engineering: Recent Developments and Future Prospects. *Methods and Protocols* **2019**, 2 (2), 33.

(347) Kim, J. K.; Kang, H. -i.; Chae, J. S.; Park, Y.-H.; Choi, Y.-J. Synthesis of cefminox by cell-free extracts of Streptomyces clavuligerus. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* **2000**, *182* (2), 313–317.

(348) Kawai, T.; Kubota, T.; Hiraki, J.; Izumi, Y. Biosynthesis of ε -poly-l-lysine in a cell-free system of Streptomyces albulus. *Biochemical* and biophysical research communications **2003**, 311 (3), 635–640.

(349) Karim, A. S.; Jewett, M. C. Cell-Free Synthetic Biology for Pathway Prototyping. In *Methods in Enzymology*; Elsevier: 2018; pp 31–57.

(350) Dudley, Q. M.; Karim, A. S.; Jewett, M. C. Cell-free metabolic engineering: biomanufacturing beyond the cell. *Biotechnology journal* **2015**, *10* (1), 69–82.

(351) Swartz, J. R. Expanding biological applications using cell-free metabolic engineering: An overview. *Metabolic Engineering* **2018**, *50*, 156–172.

(352) Karim, A. S.; Jewett, M. C. A cell-free framework for rapid biosynthetic pathway prototyping and enzyme discovery. *Metabolic Engineering* **2016**, *36*, 116–126.

(353) Bujara, M.; Schümperli, M.; Billerbeck, S.; Heinemann, M.; Panke, S. Exploiting cell-free systems: Implementation and debugging of a system of biotransformations. *Biotechnology and bioengineering* **2010**, *106* (3), 376–389.

(354) Yi, T.; Lim, H. J.; Lee, S. J.; Lee, K.-H.; Kim, D.-M. Synthesis of (R,R)-2,3-butanediol from starch in a hybrid cell-free reaction system. *Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry* **2018**, *67*, 231–235.

(355) Harper, A. D.; Bailey, C. B.; Edwards, A. D.; Detelich, J. F.; Keatinge-Clay, A. T. Preparative, in Vitro Biocatalysis of Triketide Lactone Chiral Building Blocks. Chembiochem: a European journal of chemical biology **2012**, 13 (15), 2200–2203.

(356) Buntru, M.; Hahnengress, N.; Croon, A.; Schillberg, S. Plant-Derived Cell-Free Biofactories for the Production of Secondary Metabolites. *Front Plant Sci.* **2022**, *12*, 794999–794999.

(357) Mehl, R. A.; Anderson, J. C.; Santoro, S. W.; Wang, L.; Martin, A. B.; King, D. S.; Horn, D. M.; Schultz, P. G. Generation of a Bacterium with a 21 Amino Acid Genetic Code. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125* (4), 935–939.

(358) Chen, Y.; Tang, J.; Wang, L.; Tian, Z.; Cardenas, A.; Fang, X.; Chatterjee, A.; Xiao, H. Creation of Bacterial cells with 5-Hydroxytryptophan as a 21(st) Amino Acid Building Block. *Chem.* **2020**, *6* (10), 2717–2727.

(359) Kim, S.; Sung, B. H.; Kim, S. C.; Lee, H. S. Genetic incorporation of 1 -dihydroxyphenylalanine (DOPA) biosynthesized by a tyrosine phenol-lyase. *Chem. Commun.* **2018**, *54* (24), 3002–3005.

(360) Chen, Y.; Loredo, A.; Chung, A.; Zhang, M.; Liu, R.; Xiao, H. Biosynthesis and Genetic Incorporation of 3,4-Dihydroxy-L-Phenylalanine into Proteins in Escherichia coli. *Journal of molecular biology* **2022**, 434 (8), 167412–167412.

(361) Nojoumi, S.; Ma, Y.; Schwagerus, S.; Hackenberger, C. P. R.; Budisa, N. In-Cell Synthesis of Bioorthogonal Alkene Tag S-Allyl-Homocysteine and Its Coupling with Reprogrammed Translation. *International journal of molecular sciences* **2019**, *20* (9), 2299.

(362) Patra, P.; BR, D.; Kundu, P.; Das, M.; Ghosh, A. Recent advances in machine learning applications in metabolic engineering. *Biotechnology advances* **2023**, *62*, No. 108069.

(363) Lawson, C. E.; Martí, J. M.; Radivojevic, T.; Jonnalagadda, S. V. R.; Gentz, R.; Hillson, N. J.; Peisert, S.; Kim, J.; Simmons, B. A.; Petzold, C. J.; et al. Machine learning for metabolic engineering: A review. *Metabolic Engineering* **2021**, *63*, 34–60.

(364) Helmy, M.; Smith, D.; Selvarajoo, K. Systems biology approaches integrated with artificial intelligence for optimized metabolic engineering. *Metabolic Engineering Communications* **2020**, *11*, No. e00149.

(365) Jang, W. D.; Kim, G. B.; Kim, Y.; Lee, S. Y. Applications of artificial intelligence to enzyme and pathway design for metabolic engineering. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2022**, *73*, 101–107.

(366) Xiong, W.; Liu, B.; Shen, Y.; Jing, K.; Savage, T. R. Protein engineering design from directed evolution to de novo synthesis. *Biochemical Engineering Journal* **2021**, *174*, No. 108096.

(367) Lou, Y.; Deng, Z.; Gao, J. Genomics refined: AI-powered perspectives on structural analysis. *Trends in Plant Science* **2024**, 29 (2), 123–125.

(368) Ferruz, N.; Höcker, B. Controllable protein design with language models. *Nature Machine Intelligence* **2022**, *4* (6), 521–532.

(369) Pal, S.; Bhattacharya, M.; Lee, S.-S.; Chakraborty, C. Quantum Computing in the Next-Generation Computational Biology Landscape: From Protein Folding to Molecular Dynamics. *Molecular Biotechnology* **2024**, *66* (2), 163–178.